
 

 

 

Merton Council 

Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel  
 
Date: 26 March 2014 

Time: 19:15 

Venue: Committee rooms B & C - Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden SM4 
5DX 

AGENDA 

Page Number 

 

1  Declarations of Interest   

2  Apologies for absence   

3  Minutes of the meeting held on 26th February 
2014  

1 - 8 

4  Matters arising from the Minutes   

5  Regeneration in Mitcham and Morden Town 
Centres - Verbal Update  

 

6  Mini Holland Bid - Progress Report  9 - 56 

7  Adult Skills and Employability Task Group Review 
- Action Plan and Progress Report  

57 - 72 

8  Draft Final Report - Climate Change and Green 
Deal Task Group  

73 - 126 

9  Performance Reporting - Verbal Update   

10  Topic Suggestions for 2014/15  127 - 
130 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This is a public meeting – members of the public are very welcome to attend. 
The meeting room will be open to members of the public from 7.00 p.m. 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
For more information about the work of this and other overview and scrutiny panels, 
please telephone 020 8545 4035 or e-mail scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, 
visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
 
Press enquiries: press@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3483 or 4093 
 
Email alerts: Get notified when agendas are published 
www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer 
 



 

 

Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel Membership 
 
Councillors: 
Russell Makin (Chair) 
Stan Anderson 
David Dean 
Samantha George 
Ian Munn BSc, MRTPI(Rtd) 
Dennis Pearce 
John Sargeant 
Ray Tindle (Vice-Chair) 
Substitute Members: 
Janice Howard 
Philip Jones 
Peter Southgate 
Geraldine Stanford 
Miles Windsor 

Note on declarations of interest 

Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered at the 
meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room during the whole of 
the consideration of that mater and must not participate in any vote on that matter.  If  members consider 
they should not participate because of a non-pecuniary interest which may give rise to a perception of bias, 
they should declare this, .withdraw and not participate in consideration of the item.  For further advice please 
speak with the Assistant Director of Corporate Governance. 

What is Overview and Scrutiny? 
Overview and Scrutiny describes the way Merton’s scrutiny councillors hold the Council’s 
Executive (the Cabinet) to account to make sure that they take the right decisions for the Borough. 
Scrutiny panels also carry out reviews of Council services or issues to identify ways the Council 
can improve or develop new policy to meet the needs of local people.  From May 2008, the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission and Panels have been restructured and the Panels renamed to 
reflect the Local Area Agreement strategic themes. 
 
Scrutiny’s work falls into four broad areas: 
 

⇒ Call-in: If three (non-executive) councillors feel that a decision made by the Cabinet is 
inappropriate they can ‘call the decision in’ after it has been made to prevent the decision 
taking immediate effect. They can then interview the Cabinet Member or Council Officers and 
make recommendations to the decision-maker suggesting improvements. 

⇒ Policy Reviews: The panels carry out detailed, evidence-based assessments of Council 
services or issues that affect the lives of local people. At the end of the review the panels issue 
a report setting out their findings and recommendations for improvement and present it to 
Cabinet and other partner agencies. During the reviews, panels will gather information, 
evidence and opinions from Council officers, external bodies and organisations and members 
of the public to help them understand the key issues relating to the review topic. 

⇒ One-Off Reviews: Panels often want to have a quick, one-off review of a topic and will ask 
Council officers to come and speak to them about a particular service or issue before making 
recommendations to the Cabinet.  

⇒ Scrutiny of Council Documents: Panels also examine key Council documents, such as the 
budget, the Business Plan and the Best Value Performance Plan. 

 
Scrutiny panels need the help of local people, partners and community groups to make sure that 
Merton delivers effective services. If you think there is something that scrutiny should look at, or 
have views on current reviews being carried out by scrutiny, let us know.  
 
For more information, please contact the Scrutiny Team on 020 8545 4035 or by e-mail on 
scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny 



This page is intentionally left blank



All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee. 

 

1 

SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 
26 FEBRUARY 2014 

(19.15 - 21.45) 

PRESENT Councillor Russell Makin (in the Chair), 
Councillor Stan Anderson, Councillor David Dean, 
Councillor Samantha George, Councillor Ian Munn, 
Councillor Dennis Pearce, Councillor John Sargeant, 
Councillor Janice Howard (substitute for Councillor Ray 
Tindle) 

 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Andrew Judge, Cabinet Member for Environmental 
Sustainability and Regeneration, Councillor Nick Draper, 
Cabinet Member for Culture and Housing, Chris Lee, Director 
of Environment and Regeneration, Simon Williams, Director of 
Community and Housing, James McGinlay, Head of 
Sustainable Communities, Cormac Stokes, Head of Street 
Scene and Waste, Mario Lecordier, Traffic and Highways 
Services Manager, John Hill, Head of Public Protection and 
Development. Steve Webb, Business Support and 
Relationship Manager , Wayne Hainsworth, Interim Managing 
Director (Merton Priory Homes), Pauline Ford, Circle Housing, 
Rebecca Redman, Scrutiny Officer 
 

 
1.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Agenda Item 1) 

 
None. 
 

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 2) 
 

Apologies were received from Councillor Ray Tindle. Councillor Janice Howard 
attended as a substitute for Councillor Ray Tindle. 

 
3.  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 9 JANUARY 2014 (Agenda Item 3) 

 
Panel agreed the Minutes as a true record of the meeting. 

 
4.  MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (Agenda Item 4) 

 
Panel agreed to re-order the agenda. 
 

5.  UPDATE ON THE HOUSING STOCK TRANSFER TO CIRCLE HOUSING 
MERTON PRIORY (Agenda Item 6) 

 
Wayne Hainsworth and Pauline Ford gave a presentation which covered 
progress to date on delivering the commitments within the stock transfer form 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



2 

Merton Council to Circle Housing Merton Priory (CHMP). The presentation 
was tabled and is available on the council’s website.  
The presentation covered the following: 
  

•                 Changing environment for the provision and maintenance of social 
housing; 

•                  Achievements to date following the housing stock transfer; 

•                  Commitments in the housing stock transfer that have been delivered on   
to date; 

•                   Outstanding commitments and how they are to be addressed; 

•                   Resident involvement in the design and maintenance of social housing; 

•                     Developments to sheltered housing; 

•                     Plans for developing new homes in the borough; 

•                     CHMP Regeneration Programme intentions; 

•                     Current and future investment; 

•                     Welfare Reform and support to residents; 

•                     Neighbourhood renewal and initiatives to increase the number of 
residents in employment; and  

•                     Support for better financial management by residents 
  
Councillor Dennis Pearce asked about the number of people supported into 
employment and the possibility of increasing the number in the coming years.  
 
Wayne Hainsworth stated that CHMP are delivering the programme through 
MTEC with the assistance of a Performance and Reward Grant, this sets out 
clear targets and CHMP have exceeded these since MTEC opened. It was 
also highlighted that many of the people supported have vulnerabilities and / 
or have been long term unemployed and that many clients need a lot of 
support before they are job ready.  
 
The aim is to increase the numbers going into employment and CHMP are 
extending the programmes on offer beyond construction to include customer 
service and health and social care and will continue to invest in this going 
forward.   
 
Councillor Dennis Pearce asked how CHMP intended to increase the number 
of new homes. Pauline Ford explained that Circle Housing have a clear 
development strategy and aim to build 1,250 new homes per annum 
(nationally) and highlighted that Merton was considered to be a key driver 
borough for development.  
 
It was highlighted that CHMP have considered all opportunities across land in 
its ownership to increase units and these are included within the current 
programme of garage sites. Land is in short supply within the borough and it 
was highlighted that CHMP and Circle Housing would seek support from LBM 
in its enabling role support aspirations for future growth in the borough.  
 

Page 2



3 

Councillor Janice Howard asked if high income earners occupying social 
housing were an issue. Wayne Hainsworth informed the Panel that this was 
not an issue in Merton and that CHMP has a range of residents in which a high 
proportion of those are struggling financially. It was highlighted that many of its 
residents in receipt of Housing Benefit are actually in employment.  Some 
residents who do have higher levels of income help to create balanced and 
sustainable communities and CHMP work with partners to offer a range of 
future housing options including shared ownership to support future 
aspirations. 
  
Councillor David Dean stated that any new houses needed to have sufficient 
sized rooms. Pauline Ford explained that residents of Circle Housing are 
involved in setting design standards for homes. Also as part of the 
regeneration programme that CHMP are currently consulting on, there will be 
significant involvement of residents in the master planning process. 
  
Councillor Samantha George enquired about the timetable for master planning 
for the regeneration programme. Pauline Ford stated that there was 
a procurement process underway for an organisation to undertake this master 
planning with Circle Housing/CHMP. There are a number of factors that would 
determine the timescales and at this stage there is no definitive answer. 
  
Councillor Samantha George asked about repairs and issues with 
performance against response times. Pauline Ford explained that response 
times are in place and vary according to the type of repair required and its 
urgency.    
 
CCH has implemented all the promises and actually now undertakes 
emergency repairs in 4 hours rather than 12 hours. The issue has occurred 
with the IT system and response time starting when the call was made or 
when the repair was logged with the response team as opposed to when the 
job is received by the contractor. There is work being undertaken to address 
these IT issues as well as other activities to deliver continuous improvement in 
this area.  
  
Councillor Samantha George asked about the investment programme and who 
the new contractor for repairs was. Pauline Ford informed the Panel that 
United House Limited was the new planned contractor and that they are a 
reputable family run company which covers a number of social housing 
companies across London and the South East. 
  
Councillor Ian Munn asked for clarification on the number of new houses 
target. Pauline Ford explained that the 1,250 target was based across the 
whole of Circle Housing and re-enforced Circle Housing’s commitment to 
growth within the borough subject to the availability of land. 
  
Councillor Ian Munn asked if CHMP envisaged meeting the 340 new homes 
which were in the borough plan for Merton for this year. Pauline Ford 
explained that this target for housing growth was for the whole borough and 

Page 3



4 

included the development of private sector homes as well as those in 
development by other social housing providers in the borough. 
  
Councillor Samantha George asked about the right to buy scheme and if 
changes since 2010 benefited CHMP rather than the council. Steve Webb 
explained that changes introduced by the coalition government have increased 
the level of discounts available for people under the ‘Right to Buy’ scheme. 
This has resulted in an increase in sales but a decrease in the capital receipt. 
The biggest beneficiary is the tenant. The council share of the sale is 
significantly less now but there is an increase in sales. The share from the sale 
to CHMP has increased slightly. 
 
Councillor Samantha George added that there should be a dialogue with 
Future Merton to look at how we can encourage more houses being built in the 
borough.  
  
Councillor Samantha George asked if a copy of CHMP accounts could be 
shared with the Panel. Steve Webb confirmed that this is a public document 
and it can be shared. 
  
Councillor David Dean asked what percentage of the sale of a house under 
the ‘Right to Buy’ scheme the council receives. Steve Webb explained that this 
amount varies and is dependent upon the type of property house/ flat, the 
number of bedrooms, the market value and the level of discount. 
  
Councillor Dennis Pearce asked what quality control measures were in place 
for contractors. Pauline Ford explained that CHMP undertakes regular pre and 
post inspections on a sample of properties and all works over a certain value. 
All major works are post inspected and signed off by residents. In addition 
further audits and checks are carried out on statutory works such as Gas 
servicing by external consultants. 
  
Councillor Russell Makin asked if CHMP were setting up their own credit 
union. Pauline Ford explained that the Circle Housing Group are currently 
looking at this but highlighted the priority is to ensure accessibility of these 
services in parts of the group where local provision is not available. It was 
noted that CHMP made a commitment to support the local credit union at the 
point of transfer and this commitment continues. 
  
RESOLVED: Panel noted the presentation. 

 
6.  VERBAL PRESENTATION - POLICY DEVELOPMENTS  (CONVERTING 

COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES TO MEET RESIDENTIAL HOUSING NEED) 
(Agenda Item 7) 

 
Please refer to the presentation tabled at the meeting which is available on the 
council’s website.  

Page 4



5 

James McGinlay presented on the policy developments in the area of housing, 
in particular provisions now available to apply to convert business and 
commercial properties into residential units.  

The presentation covered: 

•                    Government incentives to increase home ownership and reduce 
bureaucracy; 

•                     National Planning Policy Framework 2012 aims to significantly boost 
the supply of housing via development plans on viable sites meeting 
an “objectively assessed housing need”. 

•                     Absence of need for planning permission as a result of this framework 
which is problematic in that no design standards, space standards, or 
support for necessary local infrastructure etc, have to be captured in 
an application 

•                     The scheme to convert commercial into residential was introduced in 
May 2013 with the stipulation tat homes must be built by May 2016 

•                     Applications must receive ‘prior approval’ 

•                     DCLG refused Merton’s request for exempting Wimbledon town centre 
and the main industrial estates to seek planning permission if they 
want to convert to residential with effect from April 2015 

•                     This scheme is being monitored with the Mayor of London to 
determine the impact o London’s economy. Officers are examining 
where this might affect Merton 

  
Councillor Andrew Judge stated that Cabinet oppose this scheme due to its 
negative impact on businesses in the borough, including those that want their 
premises to grow. Both employment and business activity will be lost through 
this and some businesses have already been told by landlords that their lease 
will not continue. Article 4 will allow the council to push for a change in policy 
in this area. 
 
Councillor David Dean stated that he did not support the policy and asked if t 
would end in 2016. James McGinlay confirmed that this was a probationary 
period and it wasn’t clear as yet if this would be extended beyond 2016.  

Councillor Ian Munn stated that he was appalled by the prior application 
regulations and was pleased that officers were trying to resist this scheme. 
Councillor Ian Munn added that it was disappointing that the council had to 
wait until 2014 before it was able to issue Article 4. 
  
Councillor David Dean added that we need to avoid building on land that will 
generate employment opportunities.  
Councillor Samantha George asked if officers had been able to determine why 
Merton is among the highest number of applicants in London. Given that 17 of 
the 36 applications made were refused by the council, Merton does have some 
power in this situation. 
  

Page 5



6 

James McGinlay confirmed that this 3 year period of the scheme introduced a 
number of measures and it is too early to evaluate these yet. Merton has a 
good offer which is perhaps why we have had a significant volume of 
applications. However, the majority of the 36 applications have been refused o 
the grounds that there was poor conditions on site or due to the impact on 
infrastructure and transport. However, developers have gone away to address 
these issues and have made a further application.  

Councillor Ian Munn asked a question about Brook House and James 
McGinlay committed to providing a response outside the meeting via email.  
  
Councillor Janice Howard highlighted that the offices near Home base in 
Wimbledon Park were vacant for some time and had attracted vandalism. 
They have now been transformed into housing and this has had a positive 
effect.  
  
James McGinlay said that the council didn’t seek blanket exemption given that 
some vacant buildings could be used for housing and be of benefit to the 
area.  

RESOLVED: Panel noted the report.  

7.  SCRUTINY REVIEW - 20MPH LIMITS/ZONES UPDATE (Agenda Item 5) 
 

Chris Lee introduced the report. The data reflects the mix of 20mph zones and 
limits that the borough has which can include signage and physical traffic 
calming measures. It is timely now to start carrying out a more up to date piece 
of work in this area. 
  
Chris Lee added that the police do not have the capacity to enforce these 
limits and the case for enforcement sadly relies on the number of fatalities in 
the area. 3 other authorities have rolled out blanket 20 mph schemes. For 
example, Islington has rolled out a scheme which covers 22% of their roads. 
This involved a £1.6 million investment.  
  
Chris Lee explained that, given some of Merton’s schemes were implemented 
5 years ago, it is only now that an appropriate period of time has passed to 
gather new data and make an evaluation. 
Councillor John Sargeant stated that there was an absence of data that would 
enable the Panel to comment on the feasibility or necessity of 20mph zones 
and limits in the borough, in line with the earlier council motion of November 
2012.  
  
Councillor Dennis Pearce noted that there could be an increase in resident 
complaints if zones or limits were introduced and traffic took alternative routes 
to avoid these measures. 
  
Councillor Janice Howard commented on the number of drivers that ignore 
20mph zones that just display signage and that physical traffic calming 

Page 6



7 

measures were required. Also this needed to be approached on a street by 
street basis.  
  
Councillor Ian Munn added that there was not sufficient data to make a 
decision on if and where 20mph zones and limits should be put in place.  
  
Councillor Samantha George asked when the data needed would be available. 
Also that benchmarking should be undertaken by contacting Islington and 
Portsmouth.  
  
Councillor Andrew Judge explained that data didn’t exist at the national level 
and that the effectiveness of these zones and limits needs to be considered on 
a case by case basis.  
  
Councillor David Dean added that all side roads should be 20mph limits. 
  
Councillor Andrew Judge stated that he was happy to bring back information 
and data when available to enable the Panel to comment. There is also a 
programme of road resurfacing and the council could look at traffic calming 
measures alongside this.  
  
Chris Lee apologised for the lack of progress against the council motion and 
that data could b collected in 2014 to enable the council to look at where 
20mph zones and limits may best be implemented.  
  
RESOLVED:  Panel noted the report.   
 

8.  PERFORMANCE REPORT - VERBAL UPDATE (Agenda Item 8) 
 

Chris Lee presented the performance information. Councillor Russell Makin 
asked that any questions be raised outside the meeting via Rebecca Redman 
and sent to Chris Lee to respond via email.  
  
RESOLVED: Panel noted the information tabled. 

  
9.  WORK PROGRAMME 2013/14 (Agenda Item 9) 

 
RESOLVED: Panel noted the work programme. 

  
 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Committee: Sustainable Communities Overview & 
Scrutiny Panel 
Date: 26

th
 March 2014 

Agenda item:  6 
Wards: All 

Subject: Mini Hollands Bid – Progress Update  

Lead officer: Chris Lee, Director of Environment and Regeneration 
Lead member: Councillor Andrew Judge, Cabinet Member for Environmental 
Sustainability & Regeneration 
Forward Plan reference number: N/A 
Contact officer: Richard Lancaster 020 8545 3216 

Recommendations:  
A. That Sustainable Communities O & S Panel notes the progress in relation 

to the council’s ‘Mini-Hollands’ submission.    

 
1  PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide an overview to Members 

regarding the council’s ‘Mini-Hollands’ submission.  
 
2  DETAILS 
 Policy Context  
2.1 The Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS), launched in 2010,  sets out the 

transport vision for the capital and details how Transport for London 
and partners, including boroughs, will deliver the plan over the next 20 
years. 

 
2.2 Cycling is a key priority within the MTS – the Mayor of London has an 

objective to increase the overall modal share for cycling to 5% across 
the 20 year lifetime of the document, in order to create a cycle 
‘revolution’ in London.  

 
2.3 The headline commitments in the MTS in relation to cycling have been 

further supported in 2013 by the launch of “The Mayor’s Vision for 
Cycling in London”. The Vision includes six headline projects with 
associated funding, one of which is entitled ‘‘Mini Hollands’ in the 
suburbs’.  

 

2.4 In Spring 2013 all 20 outer London boroughs were invited by the Mayor 

of London to bid to become a ‘mini-Holland’ borough, which is a project 

designed to focus a very high spend on cycling, concentrated over a 

relatively small geographical area. The funding is designed to achieve 

transformational change for those living and working in the area, with 

the projects intended to act as cycling exemplars for other towns and 

cities to aspire to in the future. Between one and three boroughs were 

Agenda Item 6

Page 9



2 

expected to be successful, with overall funding within the region of 

£100million.   

 

2.5 All 20 boroughs had the opportunity to submit an ‘Expression of 

Interest’ application, in order to make the case for why their borough 

should be eligible for the funding.  

 

2.6 On 30th August 2013 the Mayor’s Cycle Commissioner, Andrew 

Gilligan, confirmed Merton as one of eight boroughs that had been 

selected to go forward to the second stage of this process, on the back 

of the quality and deliverability of the ‘Expression of Interest’ 

application. This second stage involved TfL providing each of the 

selected boroughs additional ‘seed’ funding to further develop the 

proposals put forward in their initial bids.  

 

2.7 Merton’s final bid was submitted in December 2013 and has been 

included at Appendix A. Following the submission, the Cabinet Member 

and officers attended a ‘Mini Hollands Panel Meeting’ in January 2014 

to present the bid to the Mayor’s Cycle Commissioner and 

representatives from the GLA and TfL. Merton’s presentation to the 

Panel has been included at Appendix B and supplementary information 

produced following the meeting has been included at Appendix C.  

 

2.8 On 10th March 2014 the Mayor of London announced the 3 boroughs 

that had been successful in securing full mini hollands status: Kingston, 

Waltham Forest and Enfield.  

 

2.9 Whilst Merton has not be selected for full mini hollands status, the bid 

has drawn strong praise from the Cycle Commissioner and the council 

will remain part of the Mini Hollands programme moving forward. The 

commitment has also been made that public funds will be provided to 

deliver a substantial proportion of the schemes included in the bid.  

 

2.10 Discussions with the Cycle Commission and Transport for London 

regarding the precise level of funding that Merton will receive are 

currently ongoing, and further information will be reported in due 

course.  

 
3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
3.1  Not applicable – this report is for information only. 
 
4  CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 
4.1  Not applicable – this report is for information only. 
 
5  TIMETABLE 

Page 10



3 

5.1  Performance information is monitored annually as a requirement of TfL. 
 
6  FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 
6.1  There are no financial, resource or property implications arising from 

this information report.  
 
7  LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
7.1   This report is for information only.  
 
8  HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS 
8.1  There are no specific human rights, equalities or community cohesion 
 
9  CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
9.1  There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this 
          information report. 
 
10  RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
10.1  There are no risk management or health and safety implications arising   

from this information report. 
 
11. APPENDICES 
11.1 Appendix A: The Mayor’s ‘Cycling Mini-Hollands’ in Outer London’ 

Fund – Final Submission (excluding appendices) 
 Appendix B: Merton’s Presentation to the Mini Hollands Panel 
 Appendix C: Supplementary Information following Mini Hollands Panel 

Presentation 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



M
e
rt

o
n

’s
 M

in
i 

H
o

ll
a
n

d
 

M
a
y
o
r’

s
 D

e
s
ig

n
 A

d
v
is

o
ry

 G
ro

u
p
 

2
0
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
1
4
 

Page 13



C
ll

r 
A

n
d

re
w

 J
u

d
g

e
 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

fo
r 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
ili

ty
 &

 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

 C
h

ri
s

 L
e

e
 

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

&
 R

e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

 P
a
u

l 
M

c
G

a
rr

y
 

fu
tu

re
M

e
rt

o
n
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

 A
th

o
ll

 N
o

o
n

 
S

K
M

 C
o
lin

 B
u
c
h
a
n
a
n
 

In
tr

o
d

u
c
ti

o
n

s
 

Page 14



W
h

y
 M

e
rt

o
n

?
 

O
u

r 
C

y
c
li
n

g
 V

is
io

n
 

O
u

r 
P

ro
p

o
s
a
ls

 

 P
ro

m
o
ti
n
g
 R

e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 &

 G
ro

w
th

 

 W
im

b
le

d
o
n
 T

o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 

 R
a
y
n
e
s
 P

a
rk

 T
o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 

 M
o
rd

e
n
 T

o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 

 C
o
n
n
e
c
ti
v
it
y,

 P
e
rm

e
a
b
ili

ty
, 

S
e
v
e
ra

n
c
e
 

 B
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

C
h
a
n
g
e
 &

 P
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 

P
ro

je
c
t 

D
e
li

v
e
ry

 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
&

 G
o

v
e
rn

a
n

c
e
 

 

  
 

M
e
rt

o
n

’s
 M

in
i 

H
o

ll
a
n

d
 

Page 15



W
h

y
 M

e
rt

o
n

?
 

Page 16



“
to

 i
n

c
re

a
s
e
 o

u
r 

m
o

d
a
l 

s
h

a
re

 o
f 

c
y
c
li

n
g

 b
y
 m

a
k
in

g
  

M
e
rt

o
n

 t
h

e
 b

e
s
t 

p
la

c
e
 t

o
 c

y
c
le

 i
n

 o
u

te
r 

L
o

n
d

o
n

”
 

 

O
u

r 
C

y
c
li
n

g
 V

is
io

n
 

Page 17



O
u

r 
P

ro
p

o
s
a
ls

 

Page 18



P
ro

m
o
ti
n
g
 G

ro
w

th
 

• 
1
0
%

 p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 g

ro
w

th
 

• 
3
4
0
0
 n

e
w

 h
o
m

e
s
 b

y
 2

0
2
6
 

• 
6
0
0
 n

e
w

 j
o
b
s
 /

 2
5
0
 n

e
w

 b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 b

y
 2

0
1
5
 

 • 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 g

ro
w

th
 t

a
rg

e
te

d
 a

t 
C

o
lli

e
rs

 W
o
o
d
, 

 
S

o
u
th

 W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 

M
o
rd

e
n
 a

n
d
 M

it
c
h
a
m

  
(1

5
m

in
 n

e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
s
) 

• 
N

e
w

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
C

e
n
tr

e
 p

la
n
n
e
d
 f

o
r 

C
o
lli

e
rs

 W
o
o
d
 

• 
E

c
o
n
o
m

ic
 g

ro
w

th
 i
n
 c

e
n
tr

a
l 
W

im
b
le

d
o
n
 a

n
d
 w

id
e
r 

S
W

1
9
  

(p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 d

ig
it
a
l 
m

e
d
ia

) 

• 
In

v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 i
n
 M

it
c
h
a
m

 a
n
d
  

C
o
lli

e
rs

 W
o
o
d
 t

o
w

n
 c

e
n
tr

e
s
. 

 • 
fu

tu
re

M
e
rt

o
n
 s

e
t 

u
p
 t

o
 d

e
liv

e
r 

a
n
d
 u

n
d
e
rp

in
  

d
e
s
ig

n
 q

u
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 g

o
o
d
 p

la
c
e
 m

a
k
in

g
.  

R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 C

o
n

te
x
t 

Page 19



“
U

s
in

g
 W

im
b

le
d

o
n

’s
 i

n
te

rn
a
ti

o
n

a
l 

b
ra

n
d

 t
o

 

e
le

v
a
te

 t
h

e
 p

ro
fi

le
 o

f 
th

e
 M

a
y
o

r’
s
 c

y
c
li

n
g

 

v
is

io
n

 a
n

d
 i

n
v
e
s
tm

e
n

t”
 

 • 
E

c
o
n
o
m

ic
 h

u
b
 o

f 
th

e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
 

• 
5
0
%

 o
f 

M
e
rt

o
n
’s

 j
o
b
s
 a

re
 i
n
 W

im
b
le

d
o
n
 

• 
E

m
b
a
rk

in
g
 o

n
 a

 b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 l
e
d
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 f

o
r 

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
’s

 g
ro

w
th

 

• 
fu

tu
re

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
 c

o
n
fe

re
n
c
e
 2

0
1
3
 

• 
G

ro
w

th
 l
in

k
e
d
 t

o
 C

ro
s
s
ra

il 
2
 

• 
R

ic
h
a
rd

 R
o
g
e
rs

’ ‘
W

im
-R

a
m

b
la

s
’ 

 W
im

b
le

d
o

n
 

Page 20



W
im

b
le

d
o

n
 T

o
w

n
 C

e
n

tr
e
 

Page 21



W
im

b
le

d
o

n
: 

O
u

r 
M

in
i 

H
o

ll
a
n

d
 

Page 22



• 
S

e
g
re

g
a
te

d
 c

y
c
le

 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 

(W
im

b
le

d
o
n
 H

ill
 –

 B
ro

a
d
w

a
y
 –

 S
th

 W
im

b
le

d
o
n
) 

• 
G

y
ra

to
ry

 r
e
m

o
v
a
l 

 5
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 t

e
s
te

d
, 

1
 p

re
fe

rr
e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
. 

 

 I
n
it
ia

l 
tr

a
ff
ic

 m
o
d
e
lli

n
g
 i
s
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
. 

 

 P
h
y
s
ic

a
lly

 a
c
h
ie

v
a
b
le

 i
n
 h

ig
h
w

a
y
 l
a
n
d
. 

 M
in

im
a
l 
d
is

a
d
v
a
n
ta

g
e
 t

o
 b

u
s
e
s
 

• 
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

 t
o
 p

e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
s
 a

n
d
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
  

• 
F

o
c
u
s
 o

n
 q

u
a
lit

y
 o

f 
p
la

c
e
 a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 

m
o
v
e
m

e
n
t 

• 
B

u
ild

in
g
 o

n
 t

h
e
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
 o

f,
  

n
o
t 

re
-d

o
in

g
 D

e
s
ti
n
a
ti
o
n
 W

im
b
le

d
o
n
 

• 
R

e
c
o
g
n
is

e
d
 n

e
e
d
 f

o
r 

a
c
ti
v
e
 t

ra
ff
ic

 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 a

re
a
-w

id
e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y.

 

W
im

b
le

d
o

n
: 

M
in

i 
H

o
ll

a
n

d
 

Page 23



C
e
n

tr
a
l 

W
im

b
le

d
o

n
 

Page 24



• 
C

lo
s
in

g
 a

 g
a
p
 i
n
 t

h
e
 c

y
c
le

 

n
e
tw

o
rk

 

• 
O

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 f

o
r 

c
ro

s
s
-b

o
ro

u
g
h
 

lin
k
s
 w

it
h
 K

in
g
s
to

n
 

• 
L
in

k
 u

p
 w

it
h
 R

a
il-

s
id

e
 P

a
th

 

q
u
ie

t-
w

a
y
 

• 
L

w
r 

D
o
w

n
s
 R

o
a
d
 t

u
n
n
e
l 

• 
B

u
ild

 u
p
o
n
 t

h
e
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 

R
a
y
n
e
s
 P

a
rk

 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m

e
n
t 

p
la

n
 

R
a
y
n

e
s
 P

a
rk

 

Page 25



• 
M

e
d
iu

m
-t

e
rm

 r
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 p

ro
je

c
t 

n
o
w

 

u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 

• 
P

u
b
lic

 R
e
a
lm

 v
is

io
n
 a

g
re

e
d
 

• 
B

a
s
e
lin

e
 T

ra
n
s
it
 m

o
d
e
lli

n
g
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 

• 
V

IS
S

IM
 t

ra
ff
ic

 m
o
d
e
lli

n
g
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d
 

• 
L
B

M
/T

fL
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

b
ri
e
f 

to
 r

e
d
e
v
e
lo

p
 

M
o
rd

e
n
 S

ta
ti
o
n
  

(r
e
ta

il 
/ 

le
is

u
re

 /
 4

0
0
 h

o
m

e
s
) 

 • 
G

y
ra

to
ry

 r
e
m

o
v
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 u

rb
a
n
 

re
a
lm

 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

• 
M

o
d
e
l 
fo

r 
s
u
b
u
rb

a
n
 i
n
te

n
s
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
  

to
w

n
 c

e
n
tr

e
 t

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

 i
n
te

rc
h
a
n
g
e
 

• 
E

m
b
e
d
 c

y
c
lin

g
 r

o
u
te

s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 t

o
w

n
 c

e
n
tr

e
 

a
n
d
 e

n
a
b
le

 c
ro

s
s
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
 l
in

k
s
 t

o
 S

u
tt

o
n
 

a
n

d
 W

a
n

d
le

 V
a

lle
y.

 

 M
o

rd
e
n

 T
o

w
n

 C
e
n

tr
e
 

Page 26



• 
E

x
p
re

s
s
 r

o
u
te

s
, 

D
ir
e
c
t 

ro
u
te

s
, 

Q
u
ie

t 
ro

u
te

s
 

 

• 
S

e
v
e
ra

n
c
e
: 

L
w

r 
D

o
w

n
s
 t

u
n
n
e
l 
/ 

W
a
n
d
le

 B
ri
d
g
e
 

• 
C

y
c
le

 t
y
p
o
lo

g
ie

s
  

(D
u
tc

h
 r

o
u
n
d
a
b
o
u
ts

 /
 h

o
o
k
 t

u
rn

s
 /

 c
y
c
le

 h
u
b
s
) 

• 
F

ilt
e
re

d
 p

e
rm

e
a
b
ili

ty
 (

M
it
c
h
a
m

 l
o
c
a
l 
lin

k
s
) 

    

C
o

n
n

e
c
ti

v
it

y
, 

S
e
v
e
ra

n
c
e
, 

P
e
rm

e
a
b

il
it

y
 

Page 27



“
m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

o
 a

c
h

ie
v
e
 1

0
%

 m
o

d
a
l 

s
h

a
re

 i
n

 c
y
c
li

n
g

 b
y
 2

0
2
0
”
 

 • 
C

y
c
le

 t
ra

in
in

g
 

(a
d
u
lt
/c

h
ild

/s
c
h
o
o
l/
c
o
m

m
u
te

r 
ri
d
e
s
) 

• 
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 w

it
h
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 

• 
J
o
b
C

e
n
tr

e
 P

lu
s
 s

c
h
e
m

e
s
 

• 
R

e
c
y
c
le

 a
 c

y
c
le

 

• 
L
iv

e
W

e
ll 

(p
u
b
lic

 h
e
a
lt
h
) 

B
e

h
a

v
io

u
r 

C
h

a
n

g
e
 &

 P
ro

m
o

ti
o

n
 

Page 28



P
ro

je
c
t 

D
e
li

v
e
ry

 &
 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 

Page 29



• 
M

J
 A

w
a
rd

: 
B

e
s
t 
A

c
h
ie

v
in

g
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

2
0

1
3

 

• 
R

a
y
n
e
s
 P

a
rk

: 
L
o
n
d
o
n
’s

 b
e
s
t 

p
e
rf

o
rm

in
g
 H

ig
h
 S

tr
e
e
t 

2
0
1
2
 

• 
D

e
s
ti
n
a
ti
o
n
 W

im
b
le

d
o
n
: 

E
x
c
e
lle

n
c
e
 

in
 P

u
b
lic

 R
e
a
lm

, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

 

A
w

a
rd

s
 2

0
1
2
 

• 
4
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 D

e
s
ig

n
 A

w
a
rd

s
 i
n
 

2
0
1
2
/1

3
 f

o
r 

e
x
c
e
lle

n
c
e
 i
n
 u

rb
a
n
 

d
e
s
ig

n
 

• 
A

n
n
u
a
l 
R

e
s
id

e
n
t’
s
 s

u
rv

e
y
 2

0
1
3
: 

 U
n
p
re

c
e
d
e
n
te

d
 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

 s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 

 i
ts

 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

in
 t

h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
. 

  

M
e
rt

o
n
’s

 t
ra

c
k
 r

e
c
o
rd

 

Page 30



B
id

 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 

!!
!!
!!
!!
"
#
$
%

!"
#
$
&

!!
!!
!!
!!
"
#
$
'
!!
!!
!!
!!
!!
!!
"
#
$
(

!!
!!
!!
"
#
$
)
!

W
im

b
le

d
o

n
 

M
o

rd
e
n

 

R
a
y
n

e
s
 P

a
rk

 

F
il

te
r 

P
e
rm

e
a
b

il
it

y
 

C
W

 b
ri

d
g

e
 

L
D

R
 t

u
n

n
e
l 

Page 31



  T
h

a
n

k
 Y

o
u

 

 

Page 32



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 33



 2 

Contents 
 

 
Cross borough routes      3 

 Wimbledon Common to Wimbledon Town Centre  4 

 Raynes Park: Bushey Road     8 

 Raynes Park Bushey Road to Kingston   9 

 Morden: South Wimbledon to St Helier Avenue  10 

 Colliers Wood: TFL Better Junctions    15 

 

Wimbledon town centre servic ing    17 

 

Street sect ions        19 

 Wimbledon Broadway      19 

 St Helier Avenue       20 

  

Mitcham: Fi l tered cycle permeabi l i ty    21 

 

Design qual i ty        24 

!

!

!

!

!

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

222222222222222222222222222222222222222
Cycle Ballet: Wimbledon 

 Page 34



 3 

Merton’s cross-borough routes 
!

Merton’s Mini-Holland strategy provides a number of cross borough routes 

which are intended to link up Merton’s main town centres and create inter-

borough routes to Kingston, Wandsworth and the City via CS7.  
 

The Mayor’s Design Advisory Group asked for further design detail on the routes 

between the town centres, principally; 

 

 A. Wimbledon Common to Wimbledon Town Centre 

 B. Raynes Park: Bushey Road to Kingston 

 C. Morden: St Helier Avenue to South Wimbledon 

 

The routes are detailed in the following pages. For Wimbledon Village, further design 

development has concluded that the Village High Street does not have sufficient width 

for full segregation. Therefore we have proposed a dual solution to improve cycling.  

 

A quiet-way (bypass) for the Village has been identified along Lingfield Road and 

Raymond Road, connecting with existing routes.  

 

The confident cyclist will still use the Village and bus lane on Wimbledon Hill Road as a 

direct route, therefore we have explored a traffic calming scheme (similar to The Cut) to 

reduce speeds and create a better environment for on-street cycling in Wimbledon 

Village. This includes semi-shared space at the village roundabouts (similar to Poynton) 

 

Parkside [P] is being delivered separately from mini-Hollands, in partnership with 

Wimbledon Common Conservators but aligns with mini-Hollands at the Village. 

A 

C 
B 

P 

Page 35



 4 

Wimbledon Village: traffic calming 

 
Wimbledon Village is a conservation area and needs a more sensitive design treatment 

to traffic calming and safer cycling measures. This approach is at concept stage, in 

response to the Mayor’s Design Advisory Group comments. We accept that this 

solution will require additional funding from Merton Council beyond the cycling 

infrastructure which we will address in detail should our bid be successful. 

 

The intention for Wimbledon Village High Street is to introduce a ‘Dutch-style’ street 

treatment with; 

 

· 20mph speed limit 

· speed reducing measures 

· tightened junctions 

· cycles share space safely with vehicles and pedestrians through ‘core’ village area 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



 5 

Wimbledon Village High St: traffic calming!

!

!

!

2

1

U
N

C
O

N
T

R
O

L
L
E

D
 S

H
A

R
E

D
 S

P
A

C
E

J
U

N
C

T
IO

N
S

S
H

A
R

E
D

 S
P

A
C

E

F
O

O
T

W
A

Y
 P

A
D

S
 T

O
 A

L
L

O
W

 F
O

R

P
A

R
K

IN
G

K
E

Y

V
IR

T
U

A
L

 B
U

IL
D

O
U

T
 U

S
IN

G
 R

E
D

 B
R

IC
K

W
IT

H
 C

Y
C

L
E

 L
O

G
O

S
 A

N
D

 C
H

A
N

G
E

 IN

C
A

R
R

IA
G

E
W

A
Y

 S
U

R
F

A
C

E

H
IG

H
L

IG
H

T
IN

G
 E

N
T

R
Y

 IN
T

O
 S

H
A

R
E

D

S
P

A
C

E
 E

N
V

IR
O

N
M

E
N

T

P
A

R
K

IN
G

 B
A

Y
S

 R
E

T
A

IN
E

D
 A

N
D

P
A

V
E

D
 IN

 G
R

A
N

IT
E

 S
E

T
S

P
A

R
K

IN
G

 B
A

Y
S

 R
E

T
A

IN
E

D
 A

N
D

P
A

V
E

D
 IN

 G
R

A
N

IT
E

 S
E

T
S

G
R

A
N

IT
E

 K
E

R
B

 L
A

ID
 F

L
U

S
H

 W
IT

H

C
A

R
R

IA
G

E
W

A
Y

 A
N

D
 F

O
O

T
W

A
Y

 A
L
O

N
G

W
H

O
L
E

 L
E

N
G

T
H

 O
F

 S
H

A
R

E
D

 S
P

A
C

E
 A

R
E

A

M
IN

I R
O

U
N

D
A

B
O

U
T

 C
O

N
V

E
R

T
E

D
 T

O

P
R

IO
R

IT
Y

 J
U

N
C

T
IO

N
 T

O
 IM

P
R

O
V

E

C
Y

C
L
E

 S
A

F
E

T
Y

Page 37



 6 

Wimbledon Village High St: traffic calming!

 

 

2

1

U
N

C
O

N
T

R
O

L
L
E

D
 S

H
A

R
E

D
 S

P
A

C
E

J
U

N
C

T
IO

N
S

S
H

A
R

E
D

 S
P

A
C

E

F
O

O
T

W
A

Y
 P

A
D

S
 T

O
 A

L
L

O
W

 F
O

R

P
A

R
K

IN
G

K
E

Y

V
IR

T
U

A
L

 B
U

IL
D

O
U

T
 U

S
IN

G
 R

E
D

 B
R

IC
K

W
IT

H
 C

Y
C

L
E

 L
O

G
O

S
 A

N
D

 C
H

A
N

G
E

 IN

C
A

R
R

IA
G

E
W

A
Y

 S
U

R
F

A
C

E

H
IG

H
L

IG
H

T
IN

G
 E

N
T

R
Y

 IN
T

O
 S

H
A

R
E

D

S
P

A
C

E
 E

N
V

IR
O

N
M

E
N

T

Page 38



 7 

Wimbledon Common to Wimbledon Town 

Centre (Village by-pass route) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 8 

Raynes Park: Bushey Road 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 9 

Raynes Park: Bushey Road to Kingston 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



 10 

Morden: South Wimbledon to St Helier Av 
 

 

 

 

Page 42



 11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2m WIDE

SOUTHBOUND

CYCLE LANE

LEFT TURN MOVEMENT

SIGNALED SEPARATELY TO

AVOID 'LEFT HOOK' ACCIDENTS

REROUTE NB TRAFFIC VIA A24

SEGREGATED CYCLE PHASE
REDUCE WIDTH OF CENTRAL

RESERVATION BY APPROX. 3m

INSUFFICIENT WIDTH FOR

CENTRAL RESERVATION

4m BUILDOUT

4m BUILDOUT

RELOCATE ISLAND

AND CROSSINGS

REMOVE ISLAND

NEW TOUCAN FOR EAST-WEST

CYCLE MOVEMENTS AND

ACCESS TO NATURE RESERVE

FLOATING

BUS STOPS

NORTHBOUND AND

SOUTHBOUND

SEGREGATION

FULL SEGREGATION

TIE IN WITH

LB MERTON REVISED

JUNCTION LAYOUT

RATIONALISE JUNCTION LAYOUT

1 2 3

4 5*

PROPOSED METHOD OF CONTROL

*  WIMBLEDON TOWN

CENTRE ACTIVE TRAFFIC

MANAGEMENT STAGE

(OPTIONAL)
LAYOUT A

N

Page 43



 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 T
W

O
-W

A
Y

 C
Y

C
L
E

L
A

N
E

S
 C

O
N

V
E

R
T

E
D

 T
O

O
N

E
-W

A
Y

E
A

R
L
Y

 R
E

L
E

A
S

E
 F

O
R

 C
Y

C
L
IS

T
S

IN
T

E
G

R
A

T
E

D
 W

IT
H

 J
U

N
C

T
IO

N

O
P

E
R

A
T

IO
N

, T
O

 P
R

E
V

E
N

T
 'L

E
F

T
 H

O
O

K
'

A
C

C
ID

E
N

T
S

 A
N

D
 G

IV
E

 C
Y

C
L

IS
T

S

P
R

IO
R

IT
Y

 D
O

W
N

S
T

R
E

A
M

 O
F

 J
U

N
C

T
IO

N

S
IG

N
A

L
 C

O
N

T
R

O
L

L
E

D
 C

Y
C

L
E

 C
R

O
S

S
IN

G

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 T
R

E
E

S

E
A

R
L
Y

 R
E

L
E

A
S

E
 F

O
R

 C
Y

C
L
IS

T
S

 IN
T

E
G

R
A

T
E

D
 W

IT
H

J
U

N
C

T
IO

N
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IO

N
, S

T
A

G
E

 C
A

N
 R

U
N

 A
T

 S
A

M
E

T
IM

E
 A

S
 E

A
R

L
Y

 R
E

L
E

A
S

E
 O

N
 S

O
U

T
H

E
R

N
 A

R
M

G
U

ID
A

N
C

E
 L

A
N

E
 A

C
R

O
S

S
 J

U
N

C
T

IO
N

E
A

R
L
Y

 C
Y

C
L
E

 R
E

L
E

A
S

E
 IN

T
E

G
R

A
T

E
D

 W
IT

H

J
U

N
C

T
IO

N
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IO

N

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 S
T

R
A

IG
H

T
 A

C
R

O
S

S
 C

R
O

S
S

IN
G

S
 O

N
 T

W
O

A
R

M
S

 O
F

 T
H

E
 J

U
N

C
T

IO
N

N
O

T
E

:  T
R

A
M

L
IN

K
 E

X
T

E
N

S
IO

N
 T

O
 S

U
T

T
O

N

S
E

G
R

E
G

A
T

E
D

 C
Y

C
L

E
 L

A
N

E
S

 L
O

C
A

T
E

D
 O

N

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 F
O

O
T

P
A

T
H

S
, A

L
L

O
W

IN
G

 T
H

E
 T

R
A

M

T
O

 R
U

N
 O

N
-S

T
R

E
E

T
 A

N
D

 N
O

T
 IN

T
E

R
F

E
R

E

W
IT

H
 T

H
E

 C
Y

C
L

E
 L

A
N

E
S

1
2

3
4

J
U

N
C

T
IO

N
 S

T
A

G
IN

G
A

L
L

 R
E

D
 &

 C
Y

C
L
E

 C
R

O
S

S
IN

G

L
A

Y
O

U
T

 C

N

Page 44



 13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 S
E

G
R

E
G

A
T

E
D

 O
F

F

C
A

R
R

IA
G

E
W

A
Y

 S
IN

G
L
E

 C
Y

C
L
E

 L
A

N
E

M
IN

O
R

 F
O

O
T

W
A

Y
 W

ID
E

N
IN

G

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 E
A

R
L
Y

 R
E

L
E

A
S

E

S
IG

N
A

L
S

/S
T

A
G

E
 W

H
IC

H
 C

A
N

 R
U

N

W
IT

H
 S

T
R

A
IG

H
T

 A
H

E
A

D
 S

T
A

G
E

(M
IN

IM
A

L
 C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 IM
P

A
C

T
)

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 C
R

O
S

S
IN

G

G
U

ID
A

N
C

E
 L

A
N

E

A
C

R
O

S
S

 J
U

N
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
E

:  T
R

A
M

L
IN

K
 E

X
T

E
N

S
IO

N
 T

O
 S

U
T

T
O

N

S
E

G
R

E
G

A
T

E
D

 C
Y

C
L
E

 L
A

N
E

S
 L

O
C

A
T

E
D

 O
N

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 F
O

O
T

P
A

T
H

S
, A

L
L

O
W

IN
G

 T
H

E
 T

R
A

M

T
O

 R
U

N
 O

N
-S

T
R

E
E

T
 A

N
D

 N
O

T
 IN

T
E

R
F

E
R

E

W
IT

H
 T

H
E

 C
Y

C
L

E
 L

A
N

E
S

L
A

Y
O

U
T

 D

N

Page 45



 14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

M
IN

O
R

 F
O

O
T

W
A

Y
 W

ID
E

N
IN

G

C
O

N
S

ID
E

R
 R

E
D

U
C

IN
G

 S
P

E
E

D

L
IM

IT
 F

R
O

M
 4

0
M

P
H

 T
O

 3
0
M

P
H

2
.0

m
 W

ID
E

N
IN

G
 O

F

C
A

R
R

IA
G

E
W

A
Y

 C
Y

C
L
E

 L
A

N
E

1
.8

m
 F

O
O

T
W

A
Y

M
IN

O
R

 C
A

R
R

IA
G

E
W

A
Y

 W
ID

E
N

IN
G

C
E

N
T

R
A

L
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

 E
X

T
E

N
D

E
D

R
E

L
O

C
A

T
E

D
 G

IV
E

W
A

Y
 L

IN
E

M
A

R
K

IN
G

R
O

U
N

D
A

B
O

U
T

 IS
L

A
N

D
 R

E
D

U
C

E
D

 B
Y

 A
P

P
R

O
X

IM
A

T
E

L
Y

 2
.0

m

C
O

N
S

ID
E

R
 R

A
IS

E
D

 E
N

T
R

Y
 T

R
E

A
T

M
E

N
T

S
 T

O

S
L
O

W
 E

X
IS

T
IN

G
 R

O
U

N
D

A
B

O
U

T
 T

R
A

F
F

IC

E
X

IT
IN

G
 R

O
U

N
D

A
B

O
U

T
 IN

T
O

 M
IN

O
R

 A
R

M
S

R
E

L
O

C
A

T
E

D
 G

IV
E

W
A

Y
 L

IN
E

M
A

R
K

IN
G

P
O

S
S

IB
L

E
 S

IG
N

A
L

IS
E

D
 C

R
O

S
S

IN
G

 P
O

IN
T

S

F
O

R
 P

E
D

E
S

T
R

IA
N

S
 A

N
D

 C
Y

C
L
IS

T
S

T
IE

 IN
 P

O
IN

T
 T

O
 E

X
IS

T
IN

G
 T

W
O

 W
A

Y
 C

Y
C

L
E

 L
A

N
E

.

N
O

T
E

: E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 C
Y

C
L

E
 L

A
N

E
 T

O
 B

E
 M

A
D

E
 O

N
E

W
A

Y
 F

O
L

L
O

W
IN

G
 D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

 O
F

 T
R

A
F

F
IC

R
E

L
O

C
A

T
E

D
 G

IV
E

W
A

Y
 L

IN
E

M
A

R
K

IN
G

T
W

O
 W

A
Y

 C
Y

C
L

E
 L

A
N

E
 T

O
/F

R
O

M
 W

A
N

D
L
E

 T
R

A
IL

W
ID

E
N

IN
G

 O
F

 C
A

R
R

IA
G

E
W

A
Y

M
IN

O
R

 F
O

O
T

W
A

Y
 W

ID
E

N
IN

G

N
O

T
E

:  T
R

A
M

L
IN

K
 E

X
T

E
N

S
IO

N
 T

O
 S

U
T

T
O

N

S
E

G
R

E
G

A
T

E
D

 C
Y

C
L

E
 L

A
N

E
S

 L
O

C
A

T
E

D
 O

N

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 F
O

O
T

P
A

T
H

S
, A

L
L
O

W
IN

G
 T

H
E

 T
R

A
M

T
O

 R
U

N
 O

N
-S

T
R

E
E

T
 A

N
D

 N
O

T
 IN

T
E

R
F

E
R

E

W
IT

H
 T

H
E

 C
Y

C
L
E

 L
A

N
E

S

L
A

Y
O

U
T

 E

N

Page 46



 15 

Colliers Wood: Public Realm  
 

Connecting Colliers Wood is a public realm project being delivered in 

partnership between the Mayor’s Regeneration Fund, TfL’s Better Junctions 

Programme and futureMerton.  

 
Although this is not part of Mini-Hollands, the Mayor’s Design Advisory Group sought 

clarification of how CS7 and local cycling routes would be integrated in Colliers Wood.  

 

The project provides: 

 - A cycle by-pass at the junction of Priory Road and Colliers Wood High Street 

 feeding into CS7. 

 - Segregated cycle facilities on Christchurch Road with cycle crossing to the 

 ‘tower island’ site. 

 - Christchurch Road at Colliers Wood Underground Station is bus and cycle-

 only, providing connections to Wandle Park and CS7. 

 - A raised table at the Underground Station gives cyclists priority and a semi-

 shared space. 

 - Parking provision will be increased, but dispersed around the new public 

 square, with options for cycle-hubs emerging on TfL land in Baltic Close and in 

 the Tower phase2, which is at pre-app stage. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



 16 

Colliers Wood: TfL better junctions  
 

 

 

 

Page 48



 17 

Wimbledon Town Centre Servicing 
 

The Mayor’s Design Advisory Group sought clarification on Merton’s 

approach to store deliveries and servicing in the central section of 

Wimbledon Broadway. 
 

 

 

 

The proposed segregated cycle lanes have the potential to create conflict with deliveries 

to businesses on the Broadway’s central section, however we believe this is 

manageable and propose the following approach; 

  

The westbound cycle route, on the south-side of the Broadway will be separated from 

traffic by a wide-channel kerb with horizontal segregation of 50mm up-stand, between 

the bus lane and footway levels.  Shops on the south-side (Morrison’s/UniQlo/Blacks) 

have basement servicing accessed from Hartfield Road which will remain unchanged, 

however a new loading bay is provided for access to the smaller units on the south-side 

(TKMaxx-RobertDyas). The loading bay is bypassed by the cycle lane and forms part of 

the footway outside allocated loading periods. 

 

The eastbound cycle route, on the north-side of the Broadway will be segregated by an 

intermittent resin or stone kerb * with an up-stand of a maximum of 50mm in height with 

reflective markings. This will allow service vehicles close access to shop frontages 

during permitted loading periods. 
*Armadillos will be considered subject to detailed design and compatibility with other street-scene items within the 

conservation area. 
  

Page 49



 18 

 

Shops on the north side are generally smaller independent businesses and restaurants 

and have rear access via Broadway Court, though it not always possible with larger 

vehicles, it is used for cars and small vans.  

 

We recognise the need to retain servicing provision and will propose a time-banded 

delivery scheme. Merton’s commercial waste collection already successfully operates 

on this basis with the support of the businesses. We aim to build on this momentum 

and use our existing good working relationship with businesses to extend time banding 

to also include servicing arrangements.  

 

We’d propose that deliveries are completed by 7am, freeing up the cycle-lanes for the 

morning rush hour where we expect the greatest amount of cycle trips generated by 

Wimbledon Station. Our process will be to amend existing waiting and loading 

restrictions as part of the MiniHolland project. We will work closely with the 

LoveWimbledon BID and the Merton Chamber of Commerce to promote the benefit of 

our proposals to businesses. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



 19 

Street Sections 
 

Street sections to demonstrate the width of cycle facilities on Wimbledon 

Broadway and St Helier Avenue 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



 20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 21 

Mitcham: Filtered Permeability 
 

The Mayor’s Design Advisory Panel sought more detail on how the concept 

of filtered cycling permeability will apply in Mitcham and how potential 

conflict between cyclists and pedestrians may be resolved. 

 

Cycling provision within in Mictham town centre will be greatly enhanced by the 

Rediscover Mitcham regeneration project. At the heart of the town centre, new cycle 

lanes will be provided around Fair Green and shared with the new London Road Bus-

only street. Majestic Way precinct will become more of a laneway street typology with 

dedicated cycle segregation towards St Marks Road. These works do not form part of 

our Mini-Holland bid. 

 

However, our focus on a loose network of permeable routes in Mitcham are designed to 

plug-into the town centre scheme, like spokes to a hub, enabling greater cycling choice 

for local trips. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed cycle segregation at Figges Marsh, North Mitcham. 

 

It is very important that the Merton mini-Holland bid also enhances cycling permeability 

as a way of linking Mitcham’s residential neighbourhoods to the town centre and key 

routes proposed for Figges Marsh and Croydon Road. Merton already uses these 

techniques to enhance cycling permeability to create new links/short-cuts for cyclists 

by  a variety of measures, including: 

 ·exemptions for appropriate traffic regulation orders (such as one-way streets) 

 ·cycle provision through road closures 

 ·new links across parks, rivers and railways to create direct and easy cycle 

 routes using exemptions for road closures and traffic regulation orders or new 

 links across barriers such as rivers, railways and parks.   

 

Our bid contains some detailed proposals for addressing this important cycling need, 

such as the new bridge over the River Wandle and the Lower Downs Road tunnel, and 

the work streams around town centres and routes will also enhance this, investigating 

ways of developing better permeability in the connecting routes 

 

Page 53



 22 

Filtered Permeability (page 39 of our bid) highlights the mixed-bag of small scale 

interventions needed in the wider Mitcham area to make cycling more convenient and 

attractive. Examples include; 

 

 

Love Lane: 

Dropped kerbs, signage and defined 

(advisory) cycle route is needed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
St Marks Rd / Lammas Ave: 

potential cycle-pedestrian conflict to be 

resolved by rationalising clutter, with 

cycle speed hump and small cycle 

give-way signage. A cycle crossing 

with either dropped kerb or realigned 

table would benefit this key route to the 

town centre. 

 

 

 

 

 
Juniper Gardens: 

No clear cycle priority, but space to 

do-so, with dropped kerbs and clear 

signage/markings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



 23 

Cycle/Pedestrian conflict potential at laneways: 
  

We will use a variety of techniques to address this issue.  Firstly, our scheme design will 

focus on those routes which are best able to accommodate such conflicts while 

maintaining easy and direct cycle access – these include those with adequate width 

and better junction visibility.  

 

Secondly, the design itself will seek to ensure clear indications 

to both cyclists and pedestrians of each other’s presence and 

where the priority (if any) lies, and we will use ‘place-making’ 

techniques to create an atmosphere for suitable behaviour.  

Signing, information and particular designation such as ‘shared 

use’ are used where relevant   

 

Finally, where absolutely necessary, speed-reducing measures such as horizontal or 

vertical deflection will also be used. In our local experience, these issues are typically 

relatively minor, and through careful design can encourage cyclists and pedestrians to 

respect each other’s right to passage on these routes. 

! 

 

! 

! 

! 

!

!

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



 24 

Design Quality 
 

The Mayor’s Design Advisory Group sought clarification of Merton 

Council’s design capacity and our commitment to commission specialist 

urban realm design input for Wimbledon and Morden town centres. 

! 

 
The mini Holland concept designs and CGI illustrations put forward in our bid have 

been prepared jointly between futureMerton Urban Design and the Council’s 

Highways teams, supplemented by more technical input and traffic modeling by SKM 

Colin Buchanan.   

The project is led by a multi-disciplinary team at Merton with an award winning track 

record; but we do recognise that mini Hollands is a step-change and that capacity 

will need to increase, with the addition of a dedicated cycle team and specialist input 

for the higher profile town centre schemes. We believe mini Hollands is as much 

about holistic place-making and quality urban realm, as it is about cycling 

infrastructure. Like the Netherlands, If the place feels right, cycling becomes more 

intuitive and adopted by the community. 

Designs, at key milestones, from Stage B-E (TFL Gateways 1-4) will be reviewed by 

Merton’s independent Design Review Panel and at appropriate review panels via 

Urban Design London / TfL and the Mayor’s Design Advisory Group.  

Learning from our current Mayor’s Regeneration Fund project in Colliers Wood, there 

has been incredible value in working in partnership between the borough, TfL and 

the GLA place-making delivery partners. We would emulate this model for 

Wimbledon and Morden Town centres and commission urban realm design expertise 

to lift the quality of design in our town centres. We will work closely with TfL and the 

Streetscape Guidance for London to promote consistency of approach and 

excellence in design and workmanship as we deliver on a key component of the 

Mayor’s Cycling Vision. 

We understand that the Mayor’s investment in the public realm and regeneration are 

part of a design process that is essential to ensuring the quality and long-term 

relevance of project for the greater good of London as a world class city. We would 

seek to secure input either by tender or using suitable GLA/TfL Frameworks for 

procurement.  

 

 

 

Page 56



 
Committee: Sustainable Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Panel 

 
Date: 26

th
 March 2014 

 
Agenda item: 7 
 
Wards: All Wards 

 
Subject: Executive Response and Action Plan - Adult 

Skills and Employability  
 
Lead officer: Chris Lee, Director of Environment & Regeneration 
 
Lead member: Councillor Andrew Judge, Cabinet Member for Environmental 
Sustainability and Regeneration 
 
Contact Officer: Sara Williams, Future Merton Programme Manager 
Sara.Williams@merton.gov.uk, x3066 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

Recommendations: 

 
A. That the Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Panel note the 

recommendations endorsed by Cabinet in relation to their task group 
review of Adult Skills and Employability – Appendix 1; 
 

B. That the Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Panel note the progress 
report shown in the Action Plan since the last presentation to Scrutiny 
on 12th November 2013 as Appendix 1.  
 

C. That the Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Panel note the agreed  
business rates discount scheme  attached as Appendix 2.  

 
 
1. 0 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

1.1 1 To provide a progress report to the Sustainable Communities Scrutiny 
Panel on the recommendations made by the Adult Skills and 
Employability Task Group. 

 
1.2 At the Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel meeting 

of the 12th November 2013 it was resolved that the Panel noted the 

report and asked that: 

Agenda Item 7

Page 57



1.2.1 The notes of the meetings of the Economic Wellbeing Sub Group be 

circulated to all Panel members when available by the E&R 

Department (every 6 weeks); 

1.2.2 Councillor James Holmes is appointed Member Champion overseeing 

implementation of the agreed review recommendations. 

1.2.3 A progress report on implementation is brought to the Panel every 

three months. 

1.2.4 The timescales for reporting to Cabinet on business rates be shared 

with the Panel when available. 

 

2.  DETAILS 

 

2.1 1 The Council’s Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Panel 
agreed to the Action Plan which aims to increase economic viability 
and prosperity of the borough by reducing unemployment and 
attracting inward investment.  

 
2.2 1  Cabinet considered the findings and recommendations of the Adult 

Skills and Employability Task Group at its meeting held on 16th 
September 2013. The recommendations were presented to the Panel 
on 12th November 2013 and it was agreed that the panel would receive 
regular updates on the action plan recommendations.  

 
2.3 The accompanying Action Plan (Appendix 1) details how the agreed 

recommendations will be implemented and shows the progress since 
November 2013.  

 
2.4 Councillor Holmes was appointed member Champion and is now 

included in the circulation of the minutes of the Economic Well Being 
who meet every 6 weeks.   

 
2.5 The business rates local discount policy was agreed in the end by CMT 

on 21st January 2014 and did not need to go to Cabinet. The scheme 
detail  is attached as Appendix 2.  

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

3.1 None for the purpose of this report  

4. CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

4.1 None for the purposes of this report. 

5. TIMETABLE 

5.1 The Action Plan will be delivered according to the timescales outlined 
in Appendix 1.  

Page 58



6. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 None for the purposes of this report - financial, resource and property 
implications of implementing the agreed recommendations have been 
accounted for in the Final Report of the Adult Skills and Employability 
Task Group submitted to Cabinet for consideration. 

7. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 None for the purposes of this report – legal and statutory implications of 
implementing the agreed recommendations have been accounted for in 
the Final Report of the Adult Skills and Employability Task Group 
submitted to Cabinet for consideration. 

8. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 None for the purposes of this report – human rights, equalities and 
community cohesion implications of implementing the agreed 
recommendations have been accounted for in the Final Report of the 
Adult Skills and Employability Task Group submitted to Cabinet for 
consideration. 

9. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 None for the purposes of this report – crime and disorder implications 
of implementing the agreed recommendations have been accounted for 
in the Final Report of the Adult Skills and Employability Task Group 
submitted to Cabinet for consideration. 

10. RISK AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 None for the purposes of this report – risk management and health and 
safety implications of implementing the agreed recommendations have 
been accounted for in the Final Report of the Adult Skills and 
Employability Task Group submitted to Cabinet for consideration. 

11. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 

PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THIS 

REPORT  

11.1 Appendix 1 –Adult Skills and Employability Task Group Action Plan and 
Progress report   

 Appendix 2 - Merton Council Local Business Rates Discount Policy  
 

12. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

12.1 Minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 16th September 2013. 

 Minutes of the Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
of 12th November 2013.  

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 - ADULT SKILLS AND EMPLOYABILITY TASK GROUP- PROGRESS UPDATE MARCH 2014 

 

NAME OF SCRUTINY PANEL: Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel       
 
NAME OF SCRUTINY REVIEW/TASK GROUP: Review of Adult Skills and Employability  
    
 
DATE OF FINAL REPORT: June 2013 – this update is for March 2014  
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 

 
PROPOSED ACTION 

 
LEAD 

OFFICER 
 

 
PROGRESS UPDATE  

MARCH 2014 

1 Recommendation 1 
That Cabinet engage the councils 
apprenticeship group, and work 
closely with the Economic 
Wellbeing Sub Group to utilize 
existing good 
practice, to increase the number 
and diversity of apprenticeships 
available to adults from 18 years 
onwards (and beyond 24 years of 
age) to increase employment 
opportunities for adults. 

 
Officers sit on both the Sutton 
and Merton Apprenticeship 
Forum and the Economic Well 
Being Group (EWG) and so 
information and good practice 
is shared between the groups. 
Representation includes 
officers from Children, Schools 
and Families who work with 
NEET’s and looked after 
children. There are also 
training providers, JCP, RSL’s, 
Merton Chamber of 
Commerce, Grenfell and 
Commonside Trust 
representatives.  
 
The Employment and Skills 

Sara 
Williams 
futureMerton 

Ongoing   
 
The EWG and joint 
apprenticeship groups continue 
to work together to support 
employment and particularly 
apprenticeship opportunities. 
Cabinet approved a sum of 
£200k for access to 
employment and skills activities 
and the EWG agreed to use 
some of the funding for this 
financial year to support 
existing programmes that are 
successfully delivering 
employment and skills.  

P
age 61



APPENDIX 1 - ADULT SKILLS AND EMPLOYABILITY TASK GROUP- PROGRESS UPDATE MARCH 2014 

 

Action Plan (2013-14) sets out 
reducing youth 
unemployment/NEETs as a 
priority 

2 Recommendation 2 
That Cabinet identifies and 
establishes 100 new 
apprenticeships in the borough 
for adults of all ages within the 
next 12 months. 

The EWG can encourage 
employers to employ 
apprentices by promoting the 
benefits of apprenticeships. 
The EWG launched the “Take 
One” initiative led by Merton 
Chamber of Commerce. This is 
a programme of engagement 
with local businesses to 
encourage them to take on one 
new person as an apprentice, 
for work experience or 
employment.  
 
The number of apprenticeships 
placed can be reported back to 
Scrutiny within an agreed 
timetable.  
 

Sara 
Williams 
futureMerton  

100 new apprenticeships by 
December 2014.  –  
We have successfully placed 
118 apprentices since July 
2013 through the joint 
promotion of Take One.  This is 
delivered by Merton Chamber 
of Commerce and was funded 
by a successful bid of £20k 
from the National 
Apprenticeship Service and 
paid to MCC to support a 
business engagement officer to 
end of January 2014.  
MCC have submitted a bid to 
the EWG for a further £8.5k of 
the Councils Access to 
Employment and Skills (EDS 
funds) which will continue to 
support the programme until 1st 
April 2014.   

3 Recommendation 3 
That the Council, engaging with 
all relevant departments increase 
the 
number of apprenticeships 
available for adults through the: 

Merton’s Skills and Action Plan 
(2013-2014) sets a priority 
action of increasing employer 
demand and take-up of 
apprenticeships. This will be 
actioned by using suppliers 

Kim Brown 
Joint Head of 
HR Policy 
Development 

Ongoing   
 
Merton currently has 31 
Apprentices (4 from the LAC) 
 
We have 3 further  vacancies at 

P
age 62



APPENDIX 1 - ADULT SKILLS AND EMPLOYABILITY TASK GROUP- PROGRESS UPDATE MARCH 2014 

 

• Tendering process; 
• Community Plan; and 
• Regeneration Plans for Merton 

and the Councils procurement 
policy to increase the number 
of apprenticeships through 
suppliers and contractors.  

recruitment stage – 2 in 
Accountancy and 1 in 
FutureMerton 
 
Within the last year 1 
apprentice has gained FT 
employment with the Council 
and 1 a fixed term contract. 
 

4 Recommendation 4-  
That Cabinet considers 
establishing an information portal 
for use by partner organisations 
to facilitate greater information 
sharing, working with the 
Economic Well Being Sub Group.  
 
  

A portal has not been created 
but information is shared 
through the EWG minutes. 
Information amongst members 
on good practice, bid 
opportunities and share 
information is regularly 
discussed. This is serviced 
through futureMerton. 
Meetings take place every 6 
weeks.  
A portal would require a 
dedicated officer to manage 
and update.  
 
 
 
 
 

Sara 
Williams 
futureMerton 
 

Ongoing   
 
We have discussed the 
possibility of HR providing a 
separate page which advertises 
apprenticeship posts within the 
council.   
 
The futureMerton Team have 
recruited a dedicated 
Employment and Skills Officer 
on a fixed term contract for 18 
months from May2014. The 
officer will investigate the 
opportunity to set up a 
dedicated web page in 
partnership with members of 
the EWG which could advertise 
opportunities such as work 
experience and apprenticeships 
as well as shared information 
on access to employment and 

P
age 63



APPENDIX 1 - ADULT SKILLS AND EMPLOYABILITY TASK GROUP- PROGRESS UPDATE MARCH 2014 

 

skills.  
 
 
 

5 Recommendation 5 
That Cabinet support/endorse 
adult employment and skills 
activities being delivered through 
the Partnership's Economic 
Wellbeing (EW) Sub Group. 

 
The EW Group has been 
recognised for the 
achievements to date.  
There is a proposal for the 
Group to apply for Flexible 
Support Funds to support adult 
employment and skills 
activities.  

EWG A bid is currently being 
prepared by a sub-group of the 
EWG, led by Grenfell Housing. 
This will focus on unemployed 
over 50’s, single parents and 
will be around pre-employment 
training programmes that are 
bespoke as well as possible 
courses on job searching and 
ICT barriers The bid should be 
ready for submission by end of 
April  2014.  

6 Recommendation 6 
That Cabinet endorse the 
provision of tailored support 
programmes in 
local libraries to support writing 
applications, CV’s, and accessing 
online resources for interview 
practice etc, building upon the 
good practice that already exists 
in libraries, as part of the councils 
assisted digital strategy. 

There is a Citizen Advice 
Bureau website which is 
facilitated through the libraries 
and this provides guidance on 
job-ready activities such as 
applications and CV writing. 
The Council are working 
closely with JobCentre Plus 
and the voluntary sector to 
deliver programmes of on-line 
activity to support unemployed 
residents. In our libraries we 
now have support 
programmes.   

Anthony 
Hopkins 
Head of 
Library & 
Heritage 
Services 
 

Ongoing  
 
All libraries provide 
employability support 
workshops on a weekly basis. A 
Job Club has recently been 
established in Mitcham Library 
in partnership with Circle 
Housing and there are plans to 
develop this at other libraries 
too. 

7 Recommendation 7 The brief for the Inward Eric Osei, April 2014 – 

P
age 64



APPENDIX 1 - ADULT SKILLS AND EMPLOYABILITY TASK GROUP- PROGRESS UPDATE MARCH 2014 

 

That Cabinet agree to debate and 
consider the Councils inward 
investment Strategy by 
December 2013. 

Investment Strategy and 
Action Plan (IIASP) is being 
prepared.  
 
Cabinet and the Adult Skills & 
Employment Task Group will 
be consulted on the IISAP.  
 
When completed the IISAP will 
include : 

• Merton’s offer for 
attracting inward 
investment ( from foreign 
and UK companies) 

•  Place marketing ( 
marketing & promotion of 
Merton as a place for 
inward investment) 

• Specific projects for 
attracting inward 
investment –and the type 
of investment the borough 
can realistically attract 

 

Business 
Growth 
Officer 
 

 
Consultants were 
commissioned at the end of 
February and the strategy will 
be ready in June-July 2014 
(unfortunately this is late but 
when the first EOI was sent out 
we did not get a suitable calibre 
of responses to take the project 
forward).  

8 Recommendation 8 
That Cabinet undertake an 
appraisal of the opportunities for 
exploiting the SW19 brand to 
attract investment to the borough, 
working with the Wimbledon 
Business Improvement District, to 
develop a partnership led 

A futureWimbledon 
Conference took place on 17th 
October 2013.  
Information collected from 
businesses and developers at 
the event will be included in 
the Councils overall Inward 
Investment Strategy and 

Paul 
McGarry 
futureMerton 

April 2014 – 
 
Wimbledon and the SW19 offer 
will be a major element of the 
overall Inward Investment and 
Business Retention Strategy 
(IIBRS).  
 

P
age 65



APPENDIX 1 - ADULT SKILLS AND EMPLOYABILITY TASK GROUP- PROGRESS UPDATE MARCH 2014 

 

strategic vision for the borough. Action Plan (IISAP). 
futureMerton work closely with 
LoveWimbledon (Wimbledon 
BID) and the Head of 
Sustainable Communities sits 
on the BID Board so 
partnership is well established 
and any ideas on promoting 
SW19 within our forthcoming 
IISAP are/will be in 
consultation with  
LoveWimbledon.  
 
 

 
 

9 Recommendation 9 
That Cabinet consider the 
feasibility of offering business 
rate incentives 
and more flexible packages to 
attract investment into the 
borough. 

futureMerton and Revenue & 
Benefits have developed policy 
and eligibility criteria for the 
new Business Rate “ Discount” 
scheme. The proposals are 
pending approval.  
 
In addition, advice on business 
rate (including rate relief) is 
advertised on the Council’s 
website as well as the new 
futureMerton brochure on 
business support and finance 
for Merton businesses. 

David 
Keppler, 
Head of 
Revenue & 
Benefits. 
 

Nov  2013 - 
This policy has now been 
agreed by CMT. A scheme is in 
place offering business rates 
discounts to those that meet the 
eligibility criteria. This will be on 
the council’s website by end of 
March 2014.  

10 Recommendation 10 
That Cabinet, in consultation with 
local businesses, considers the 

Business consultation training 
needs exercise to be 
undertaken.  MAE have 

Yvonne 
Tomlin 
MAE 

February 2014 - 
 
Formal consultation with 

P
age 66



APPENDIX 1 - ADULT SKILLS AND EMPLOYABILITY TASK GROUP- PROGRESS UPDATE MARCH 2014 

 

viability of offering additional 
courses/training that meet 
employer 
demand and may increase the 
employment opportunities of 
residents in the borough. The 
Task Group acknowledges that 
any delivery model and the 
courses that will be delivered are 
part of a wider Cabinet decision 
on the outcomes of the Public 
Value Review being undertaken 
of Merton Adult Education. (MAE) 

engaged with the Tesco South 
Kensington and New Malden 
branches regarding IT and 
ESOL training for staff 

businesses has not 
commenced as yet.  MAE will 
design a questionnaire to be 
disseminated in April 2014.   
 
Much networking has been 
undertaken to capture some 
training needs. 

11 Recommendation 11 
That Cabinet explore the 
possibility of offering an 
enhanced set of 
courses and qualifications that 
are more attractive to employers 
for 
example, offering bespoke 
training to local companies or 
diplomas that 
enable students to graduate and 
move into the second year of a 
degree programme. 

Discussion underway with the 
Higher Education Funding 
council regarding degree 
programmes.   
 
Consultation on the types of 
courses required will be 
integrated in the survey in 
point 10. 
 
Bespoke Adult Social Care 
courses being developed for 
launch in the new year.  The 
service has undergone a 
staffing re-structure whereby 
new commercially focused 
sales roles have been 
established. 

Yvonne 
Tomlin 
MAE 

May 2014 - 
 
Meeting with ABE. a business 
focused examination body, 
scheduled to take place in  
March 2014 
 
Two report writing courses have 
been developed one focused on 
Social Workers the other a 
more generic audience.  The 
course has been developed in 
partnership with ‘Create 
Expectation’.  The first course is 
due to launch in May 2014. 
 
Further social media, marketing 
and business courses under 

P
age 67



APPENDIX 1 - ADULT SKILLS AND EMPLOYABILITY TASK GROUP- PROGRESS UPDATE MARCH 2014 

 

development, with plans to 
launch in June. 
 
 

12 Recommendation 12 
That Cabinet support the 
development of the Merton Adult 
Education service as a 
commercial brand, alongside 
longer term work on further 
developing the reputation and 
provision of MAE. 

Development and 
implementation of commercial 
business plans. 
 
 

Yvonne 
Tomlin 

Dec 2013 - 
 
The service has completed the 
Target Operating Model (TOM) 
exercise and produced action 
plans for the commercial short 
courses. 

13 Recommendation 13 
That Cabinet consider setting up 
a virtual Merton Business School 
that will support Merton residents 
and existing and prospective 
businesses. 

MAE will develop further for 
possible implementation in 
2015 

Yvonne 
Tomlin 

April 2015 – 
No current update 

14 Recommendation 14 
That Cabinet agree to Merton 
Adult Education (MAE) becoming 
accredited to deliver higher level 
qualifications and to engaging 
local in the delivery of these 
courses. 

Discussion underway with the 
Higher Education Funding 
council regarding degree 
programmes.   
 
Currently delivering the CELTA 
Cambridge higher level 
qualification 
 

Yvonne 
Tomlin 

May 2014 - 
 
MAE is exploring extending the 
curriculum offer to include 
Access Courses/ 
 
ABE offer degree level courses, 
a meeting is scheduled for 
March 2014.  

15 Recommendation 15 
That Council endorse the 
development and refresh of the 
Adult Skills Strategy and engage 

The current Employment and 
Skills Action Plan (2013-2014) 
is being implemented. It is 
proposed that an update report 

Sara 
Williams 
futureMerton 

A refreshed Plan will need to be 
prepared from mid 2014 with 
the proposed actions from 
January 2015 – 

P
age 68



APPENDIX 1 - ADULT SKILLS AND EMPLOYABILITY TASK GROUP- PROGRESS UPDATE MARCH 2014 

 

futureMerton and partners in this 
process to make the relevant 
linkages in terms of economic 
development in the borough. 

be presented for the first years 
activities to Cabinet in 
December/January 2014.  
Taking forward a further Plan 
beyond 2014 could require 
additional funds to be provided 
for activities to support the 
objectives and outputs.  

 
The EWG have begun to 
consider priorities to take 
forward the action plan into 
2015.   

 
Notes:-  
 

P
age 69



P
age 70

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 - Executive Response and Action Plan for Adult Skills and Employability Task Group  
 
 

Merton Council Local Business Rates Discount Policy  
 
 

            
Business Rates retention has given authorities the discretion to introduce local discounts for 
business rates for the first time. This new relief can be used on individual cases or as part of a 
wider strategy to enhance or encourage business to occupy empty premises in Merton. 
 
The cost of the local discount would be split in line with Business Rates Retention arrangements, 
so the authority would bear 30% of the cost.  
  
 
The aim of the local discount scheme is to:  
 

• Support the attraction of new businesses ( and the associated investment and jobs) into the 
borough, particularly into the East and other part of the borough undergoing regeneration 

• Help reduce the number of empty premises and thereby reverse the physical and economic 
decline of areas associated with high levels of vacant premises 

• Help increase Council income generated from business rate in the medium and long term. 
 
General scheme 
 

• The scheme is aimed at small to medium businesses with a rateable value of £6,500 or 

above who occupy or re-locate within the borough or for existing businesses expanding 

within the borough 

• The discount will run for a fixed period within the financial year.   

• The discount can be awarded for up to two years but any discount in year two can be no 

more than 50% of the discount awarded in year one.   

• A business can apply at any time but can only benefit from the discount up until the end of  

financial year   

• The level of discount awarded can be between 20% and 100% of the rates for a given 

period.  

• The level of discount awarded will depend on the individual circumstances of the application  

 

   

The scheme will initially target Mitcham, Morden and Colliers Wood areas – focusing on: 

• Mitcham town centre  

• Willow Lane Industrial Estate (Mitcham) 

• Colliers Wood High Street 

• Merton High Street  

• South Wimbledon Industrial Estate 
 
 
Eligibility Criteria 
 
Businesses eligible for the local discount include: 

• Those who are relocating from other boroughs or locations and will bring significant 
additional employment to Merton 

• Existing Merton businesses who need additional premises to expand and will create 

significant additional jobs Page 71



• High quality new business start-ups with the potential to grow and create new jobs 

• Businesses employing 2 or more staff and have the potential to grow. 

• Businesses trading for more than one year and have minimum of one year lease on the 

property 

Ineligible businesses/organisations  
 
Businesses that would not be eligible for the local discount: 

• Payday loan companies 

• Betting shops and other gambling establishments 

• Charity shops - unless they have at least 5 existing employees, or can generate at least 
3 new jobs in the first year of operation.  

• Businesses trading in sectors in activities that could bring the scheme into disrepute 
(e.g. pornography etc.).  

• Business that have received up to approximately £170,000 of aid or assistance from 
public bodies/agencies over any consecutive three financial years (European 
Commission State Aid Rules- “De Minimis”.) 

 
 
Application Process 
 
A formal application form must be submitted via the Future Merton team with a recommendation 
for the application and the level of the discount requested. This application will be considered by 
the Head of Revenues and Benefits. The application form along with supporting documentation 
will be presented to the Director of Corporate Services to assist him/her as to whether the discount 
should be granted.  
 
Applications can be received and decided, in principal, in advance of the business entering into a 
lease for the property to enable the business to enter into any agreement knowing the rates 
liability for the year.  
 
Budget 
 
The level of local discount to be awarded for the year will be set by the Director of Corporate 
Services as part of the budget process and submission of the NNDR1 (Formal government return 
that estimates the Council’s business rates collection for the year) 
 
The level of discount awarded will need to take in to consideration current spend on the local 
discount and expected future spend within the financial year.  
 
 

Page 72



www.merton.gov.uk 

Committee: Sustainable Communities Overview and 

                     Scrutiny Panel 

Date:            26 March 2014 

Agenda item:  8 

Wards: All Wards 

Subject:      Draft Final Report of the Climate Change and the      
                    Green Deal Task Group 
Lead officer:       Rebecca Redman, Scrutiny Officer 

Lead member:    Councillor Russell Makin, Chair of the Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

Contact Officer:  Rebecca Redman, rebecca.redman@merton.gov.uk; 020 8545 4035  

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Recommendations: 

A. That the Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel considers 
and endorses the report arising from the scrutiny review of Climate Change 
and the Green Deal, attached at Appendix 1;  

B. That the Panel considers the response received from Merton Priory Homes 
to its draft Final Report and recommendations and agrees how it would like 
to incorporate this response; or if it wishes to amend the groups 
recommendations to reflect opportunities for partnership working with MPH 
and Circle Housing (to be tabled at the meeting); and   

C. That the Panel agrees to forward the review report to cabinet for approval 
and implementation of the recommendations. 

_____________________________________________________________________        

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 To present the scrutiny review of Climate Change and the Green Deal in 
Merton to the Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel for 
endorsement; and to seek agreement to forward the report to Cabinet for 
approval and implementation of the review recommendations. 

2. DETAILS 

2.1 The Panel, at its meeting on 25 June 2013, agreed to establish a task group 
to look at climate change, in particular the refresh of the council’s climate 
change strategy, and whether the Green Deal is suitable for Merton 
residents. 

2.2 The Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel appointed a 
task group to carry out the review. The task group’s report is attached at 
Appendix 1. 

Agenda Item 8

Page 73



www.merton.gov.uk 

2.3 The task group also met with Merton Priory Homes and Circle Housing to 
discuss its findings and the potential for joint working and delivery of some of 
the energy improvement initiatives discussed. MPH and Circle Housing 
agreed to provide a response to the findings and recommendations of the 
task group. This response is to be tabled at this meeting for Members 
consideration and action. The Panel should consider if and how it would like 
to amend any of the groups recommendations in response to the views and 
proposals of MPH and Circle Housing.  

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

3.1 The Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel can select 
topics for scrutiny review and for other scrutiny work as it sees fit, taking into 
account views and suggestions from officers, partner organisations and the 
public.  

4. CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

4.1 In carrying out its review, the task group co-opted representatives from 
Sustainable Merton, met with representatives from Peterborough City 
Council, and also talked to council officers and Cabinet Members. 

4.2 Appendix 1 of the Task Group Report lists those who contributed to the  
review.  

5. TIMETABLE 

5.1 The task group’s draft final report will be considered, with a view to being 
endorsed to forward to Cabinet, by the Sustainable Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel at its meeting on 26 March 2014. 

5.2 The Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel will then send 
the report to the Council’s Cabinet in June 2014 for consideration. 

6. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 None for the purposes of this covering report. 

7.              LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1            None for the purposes of this report. 

8. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 It is a fundamental aim of the scrutiny process to ensure that there is full and 
equal access to the democratic process through public involvement and 
engaging with local partners in scrutiny reviews.  Furthermore, the outcomes 
of reviews are intended to benefit all sections of the local community.  An 
Equalities Impact Assessment was completed as part of the review process 
and is available on request from the Scrutiny Team. 

9. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 None for the purposes of this report.      

10. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 None for the purposes of this report.   

Page 74



www.merton.gov.uk 

11. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 

PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

11.1 Appendix 1 – task group review report on Climate Change and the Green 
Deal.   

12. BACKGROUND PAPERS  

12.1 None for the purposes of this report. 

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

London Borough of Merton 

Report and Recommendations arising from the Scrutiny Review of Climate 
Change and the Green Deal 

Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

March 2014 

Page 77



2 

 

 

Task Group Members 
Cllr Russell Makin (Chair) 
Cllr James Holmes 
Cllr Ian Munn 
Councillor Suzanne Grocott 
Councillor Ray Tindle 
 
Co-opted Members: 
Kevin Godding (Sustainable Merton) 
Tom Walshe (Sustainable Merton) 
 

Scrutiny Support:  
Rebecca Redman, Scrutiny Officer 
Richard Greig, Scrutiny Officer (National Management Trainee) 
 
For further information relating to the review, please contact: 
Scrutiny Team 
London Borough of Merton 
Merton Civic centre 
London Road 
Morden 
Surrey SM4 5DX 
Tel: 020 8545 3864 
E-mail: scrutiny@merton.gov.uk 

Page 78



3 

 

 

Acknowledgements  

We would like to thank all the officers and external witnesses who have taken the 
time to provide written and verbal information and discussed their ideas with us. All 
contributors are listed in Appendix 1 of this report. 

Page 79



4 

 

 

Table of contents 

Index Page(s) 

Foreword by the Chair of the Task Group 
 

5 - 6 

Executive Summary 
 

7 

List of Recommendations 
 

8-10 

Introduction  
 

11 - 12 

What the Task Group Did 
 

12 

Background – the science behind climate 
change 
 

12 - 15 

What are we doing to tackle climate 
change? 
 

15 - 19 

Climate Change Strategy for Merton 
 

19 - 21 

The Green Deal – is it suitable for 
Merton? 
 

21 - 24 

Exploring the feasibility of an ESCO for 
Merton 
 

24 - 37 

Behavioural Change 37 - 38 

Consultation with Merton Priory Homes – 
Energy Efficiency of Merton’s Housing 
Stock 

37 - 39 

Concluding Remarks 
 

39 

What happens next? 
 

40 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Whom we spoke to 
 

41 

Appendix 2 - Equalities impact 
assessment 
 

42 - 46 

Appendix 3 – Preliminary Business Case: 
Merton ESCO Proposals 

47 - 48 

Appendix 4 – Merton ESCO Company 
Diagram 

49 

 

Page 80



5 

 

 

Foreword 

Councillor Russell Makin, Chair of the Climate Change and Green Deal Task 
Group 

A timely discussion of a subject which affects us all 
 
For many Merton residents the subject of climate change has been an issue of great 
concern. We have all seen how climate change has been debated and has grown in 
importance as an international issue that needs to be addressed.  
 
The UK Government’s response to such changes was outlined in the Climate 
Change Act of 2008. But until now, for many, this has seemed a theoretical 
discussion rather than an actual threat. However, the impact of climate change has 
been evidenced in significant weather changes in the UK, the recent floods as an 
example of how real climate change is and how we must seek to limit and mitigate 
its impact.   
 
When we began our task group’s work in September of 2013 we acknowledged that 
it was a broad area which impacted on a number of areas and council services. To 
ensure that our review and recommendations were focused we chose to concentrate 
on energy improvements.  
 
Our review was also timely because the Council were in the process of refreshing 
the Climate Change Strategy for Merton 2014-2017 and the task group commented 
on and contributed to this refresh. Furthermore, Merton was considering how it might 
respond to the Governments Green Deal initiative, and in particular, if it was right for 
the borough. Both work streams in this review concentrated on reducing the impact 
of climate change through increasing energy efficiency in council buildings, local 
businesses and local housing stock.   
 
During our task group meetings I was struck by the quality of our cross-party 
discussions and found it a privilege to work with colleagues on this issue. We also 
benefited a lot from the input of our co-opted members from Sustainable Merton (a 
local volunteer-run environmental organisation), who contributed to the debate and 
gave their expertise. Tom Walsh and Kevin Godding gave us their perspective on 
the subject and have enabled us to consider factors relating to energy improvements 
and the work of the Council, as well as the opportunities it has in this area and may 
not yet have explored, which has helped us shape our recommendations. Officer 
involvement was also of a very high calibre and support to the task group was 
beneficial in enabling Members to really explore the issues, challenges and 
opportunities at hand.  
 
We were pleased to hear that the Council is already working on and delivering a 
number of initiatives to tackle the issue of climate change in relation to energy 
improvements. The various work streams were considered in detail as part of this 
review and are discussed in this report.  There was a consensus among the task 
group that the government’s Green Deal initiative (focused on making energy 
efficiency changes to homes and businesses), although laudable in intent, was not 

Page 81



6 

 

appropriate for the borough due to problems with some of our more vulnerable 
residents being unable to access the provisions within it. Our deliberations then 
turned to local responses which we feel are more appropriate and beneficial and are 
reflected in our recommendations. 
 
We also decided that an objective within the Council’s refreshed Climate Change 
Strategy, the potential benefits to the Council and residents of establishing an ESCO 
for Merton formed a significant part of our work as a task group.  We believe that an 
ESCO affords a number of opportunities for the Council in relation to its energy 
efficiency agenda and that the feasibility of such a model should be explored further, 
building on the work already undertaken by the task group.  
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank all my colleagues on the task group, 
Merton staff that contributed to and supported the review and external 
representatives that have contributed to this review and advised us to enable us to 
make the recommendations outlined in this report. I do see some promising 
outcomes form these recommendations and will ensure that the scrutiny function 
plays a role in ensuring that these outcomes are realised in the future. 

Page 82



7 

 

 

Executive Summary 

The Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Panel established a task group to consider 

the issue of climate change and how it might be addressed in the borough, 

acknowledging that this is not just a local issue but requires a regional, national and 

international response. The significant impact of climate change also means that any 

review undertaken would need to ensure that it was focused on one element of the 

range of issues and activities that fall under the climate change umbrella.  

With this in mind the task group chose to focus their review on energy improvements 

and sought to consider and debate the following: 

• What should be included in the Councils Climate Change Strategy in relation 

to energy improvement?: 

• Is the governments Green Deal initiative suitable for Merton?; 

• How can the Council fund energy improvement activity in the borough?: 

• What innovative measures and opportunities are available to Merton to 

mitigate the impact of climate change through energy efficiency 

improvements? 

Our recommendations reflect our responses to these questions and what we 

believe will be significant financial, environmental and social benefits generated 

through newer innovative local approaches that will enable: 

• The Council to mitigate the impact of climate change; 

• Ensure that we are an energy efficient borough; 

• Delivery of our climate change strategy and associated initiatives are 

financially sustainable in the short and long term; and  

• Residents and the Council to deliver solutions to meet energy demand in the 

borough at lower costs and with greater efficiency 

This review has considered evidence from a range of stakeholders and identified 

good practice and the financial, environmental, legal and health and safety 

implications of how the Council may meet climate change commitments. In doing so 

we have produced a detailed report that has attempted to start some of the work that 

we would like to ask Cabinet to take forward as we believe that the business case 

for some of our recommendations is strong and whole heartedly support the 

recommendations we are putting forward.  

Our proposed approach is an incremental, phased programme which will gain 

momentum over time to ensure the successful outcomes we envisage may be 

realised.  We look forward to how our recommendations will contribute to the 

strategic direction of the Council in relation to climate change and energy.  

Page 83



8 

 

 

List of Recommendations –  

The Task Group acknowledge that there are interdependencies between a 
number of the recommendations made which will impact upon the timescales 
for delivery (as referenced in the table below).  We would ask that Cabinet 
provide a more detailed outline of the considerations to be made in terms of 
implementation in their action plan and executive response to the Sustainable 
Communities Scrutiny Panel.  

Recommendations Stakeholder/Responsible 
Team 

Recommendation 1 - That Cabinet, further to 

maximising the potential of its own sites, work with other 

public and private sector landowners, such as 

Registered Providers, private homeowners, businesses 

and community organisations installing solar PV 

(photovoltaic) on their buildings where this is supported 

by a business case (paragraph 4.17). 

*Note that this recommendation being implemented 

is dependent upon recommendations 7 and 8 being 

achieved.   

Cabinet 

Recommendation 2 - That Cabinet explore how solar 

PV could be made available to residents to access at 

cheaper rates/costs and how the Council may promote 

or support this scheme to enable communities to 

purchase their own renewable technology. This may be 

achieved through external capital investment or the 

ESCO (paragraph 4.17).  

Cabinet 

Recommendation 3 - That the Council adopt Merton’s 

Climate Change Strategy 2014-2017, which has been 

reviewed by the Task group and revised to take account 

of its recommendations (paragraph 5.6). 

Cabinet 

Recommendation 4 - That Cabinet consider how to 

ensure the adoption/installation of energy efficiency 

measures in appropriate council contracts being 

established or renewed by procurement, where feasible 

(paragraph 5.6). 

Cabinet/Partners 

Recommendation 5 - That representatives from each 

council Directorate participate in the Climate Change 

Steering Group, as appropriate, to consider cross cutting 

Cabinet 

Page 84



9 

 

issues and projects relating to tackling climate change to 

ensure a strategic focus and leadership on climate 

change priorities (paragraph 5.6)  

Recommendation 6 - That Cabinet promote the Green 

Deal and consider the existing provision, such as ECO 

funding, to address some of the issues associated with 

the national Green Deal scheme, as reported by 

residents, which has resulted in low take up and ensure 

that it meets local needs (paragraph 6.16).  

Cabinet 

Recommendation 7 – That Cabinet commission a 

feasibility study to look at establishing an Energy 

Services Company (ESCO) for Merton, with a view to 

producing a business case for the ESCO which should 

include a risk assessment of the proposals.  A further 

detailed investigation into the potential for a Merton 

ESCO should include: 

• Future Merton obtaining specialist legal advice on 
the Council’s scope and legal limitations in 
generating, distributing and selling energy and 
advise on the development of an ESCO; 

• Feasibility investigations into the potential for 
district heating at Morden Town Centre and 
Colliers Wood / South Wimbledon 

• Further scoping of energy efficiency retrofit 
potential in Merton  

• Identification of where existing regeneration 
proposals/programmes may take forward energy 
efficiency improvements, alone or in partnership 
without the need for an ESCO to be in place. 

(paragraph 8.40) 

 

Cabinet 

Recommendation 8 – That Cabinet receives a report 
on progress on rolling out the expansion of the Merton 
solar PV portfolio, and on the scope for making further 
investment, subject to the results of a scoping exercise 
and a viable business case. This business case should 
include an appraisal of whether this should be 
undertaken via an ESCO or not (paragraph 8.40). 

 

Cabinet 

Recommendation 9 - That the Council develop a 

marketing and engagement strategy to ensure the 

Cabinet 

Page 85



10 

 

widest promotion and awareness raising of energy 

efficiency measures and improvements that staff, 

residents and local businesses can access (paragraph 

9.6) 

Recommendation 10 – To be added to comment on 
relationship with MPH/Circle Housing. This will be 
finalised following consideration of MPH/Circle’s 
response to the task group’s recommendations 
which will be tabled at the SC Panel meeting on 26th 
March).  

Cabinet/Circle Housing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 86



11 

 

Final Report of the Climate Change and Green Deal Task Group 

1. Introduction 
 
Purpose: 
 
1.1 The Council’s Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel, at its 

meeting on 25 June 2013, agreed to establish a Task Group review of 
Climate Change and the Green Deal and appointed a small number of 
Members to the Task Group.  

 
1.2 At the Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel meeting on 16 

October 2013, Terms of Reference for the Task Group review were agreed. 
The aims of the review were established as follows:  

• To support the Council in its refresh of the Climate Change Strategy 2013 
-2016; 

• To address the impact of climate change in Merton and determine how the 
Council will support residents in relation to energy improvements; and 

• To support the Council to agree a way forward for the Governments 
Green Deal initiative in Merton 

 
1.3 The terms of reference for the review were as follows: 
 

• To determine what the government’s policy is on Climate Change and 
how Local Authorities are required to respond; 

• To determine the impact climate change could have on the borough and 
the Council’s responsibilities to respond to this change; 

• To determine what action Merton has taken to date, and proposals for the 
future, to tackle climate change in Merton (focusing on energy 
improvements: Merton RE:FIT Project, energy efficiency activities with 
schools and renewable energy); 

• To determine what impact not implementing certain climate change 
measures will have on service delivery and the Council’s resources; 

• To determine if the Governments Green Deal policy is suitable for Merton 
and how they should respond; 

• To identify what funding streams the Council has to support climate 
change activity, as outlined within Merton’s draft Climate Change 
Strategy, and which work streams are prioritised by the Council; 

• To explore potential funding streams to implement preventative measures 
to mitigate the impact of climate change; 

• To determine how partner organisations can be more effectively engaged 
in supporting the delivery of the draft Climate Change Strategy for Merton; 

Page 87



12 

 

To determine how the Council can work more effectively across 
departments to ensure that climate change objectives and measures are 
built into business planning and strategy development 

2. What the Task Group Did 
 
2.1 The Task Group held a number of meetings during the course of the review at 

which a wide range of evidence was considered and the public invited to 
attend to contribute their views. This is outlined below with corresponding 
recommendations that resulted from these discussions.  

 
2.2 Members requested a range of evidence and comparative information 

throughout the course of the review. Members also invited a variety of people 
to attend to assist in the forming of evidence-based recommendations to the 
Executive, and where appropriate, to partner organisations. 

2.3 Evidence considered consisted of the following: 
 

• Detailed officer reports supplemented by verbal evidence; 

• Best practice from other Local Authorities; 

• Government legislation and guidance (national, regional and local 
       policy); 

• Visits to meet with other authorities/organisations; 

• Evidence from partner organisations and stakeholders; 

• Research reports/briefing papers; and 

• Consultation activities 
 
3.  Background 
 
Climate Change- why we must take action 
 
3.1 Members commenced their review by considering the scientific findings on 

climate change. Members learned that the Intergovernmental Panel on 
Climate Change (IPCC), a scientific body under the auspices of the United 
Nations (UN), reviewed and assessed the most recent scientific, technical 
and socio-economic information produced worldwide relevant to the 
understanding of climate change. The key links and spheres of influence 
were identified as follows: 

Page 88



13 

 

 
 

3.2   Members agreed that there was a need for councils to address climate 
change as it impacted a number of areas of policy and service delivery that 
the Council was responsible for, and furthermore, required a cross 
departmental strategic approach. In particular, they noted the UK CIP 
projections for London by 2050 on the potential impact of Climate Change in 
the region. The potential changes resulting from climate change that would 
need to be prepared for/addressed were identified as follows:   

 

• Rising temperatures; 

• More seasonal rainfall; 

• Tidal surges; and  

• Sea level rise 
 

National and Regional Policy and Legislation on Climate Change 

3.3 Members considered the national and local policy on climate change to 
establish the requirements of Local Authorities in responding to this 
legislation. Officers outlined the policy and legislative framework governing 
preventative/responsive work in relation to climate change as follows: 

 

Climate Change Act (2008) 

3.4 The Climate Change Act 2008 established a target for the UK to reduce its 
emissions by at least 80% from 1990 levels by 2050.  This target represents 
an appropriate UK contribution to global emission reductions consistent with 
limiting global temperature rise to as little as possible above 2°C. Within this 
Act the following secondary legislation has been passed:  

 
Carbon budgets 

Page 89



14 

 

3.5 To ensure that regular progress is made towards this long-term target, the 
Climate Change Act also established a system of five-yearly carbon budgets, 
running from 2008-2027. The level of carbon budgets has been informed 
through assessing, by sector, what can be achieved to reduce emissions at 
the least cost.  

 
3.6 The first four carbon budgets, covering the period from 2008 to 2027, (2008-

2012; 2013-2017; 2018-2022; 2023-2027) have been set in law. The UK is 
currently in the second carbon budget period. Meeting the fourth carbon 
budget will require that emissions be reduced by 50% on 1990 levels in 2025. 

 
Adaptation 

3.7 The Climate Change Act also legislates for climate change adaption and sets 
out the requirements for the following policies: 

• The Climate Change Risk Assessment: sets out the main priorities for 
adaptation in the UK under 5 key themes - Agriculture and Forestry; 
Business, industries and Services; Health and Wellbeing; Natural 
Environment and Buildings and Infrastructure - and describes the policy 
context, and action already in place to tackle some of the risks in each 
area.  

• The National Adaptation Programme: analyses the potential effects of 
climate change and the risks and opportunities for the UK and sets out 
what government, businesses, and society are doing to become more 
climate ready. 

• The Adaptation Reporting Power: gives government the power to ask 
certain organisations responsible for essential services and infrastructure 
(e.g. energy or transport companies) to produce reports on the current 
and future predicted impacts of climate change on their organisation and 
their proposals for adapting to climate change.  

 
Renewable energy  
 
3.8 Furthermore, within the Climate Change Act, the UK is legally committed to 

provide 15% of its total energy demand from renewable sources by 2020.  
 
The Mayor’s Climate Change Mitigation and Energy Strategy 

3.9 To limit further climate change, the Mayor has set a target to reduce London’s 
CO2 emissions by 60 per cent of 1990 levels by 2025 and 80% by 2050. This 
strategy also sets the following four objectives: 

• to reduce London’s CO2 emissions to mitigate climate change; 

• to maximise economic opportunities from the transition to a low carbon 
Capital; 

• to ensure a secure and reliable energy supply for London; and  

• to meet, and where possible exceed, national climate change and energy 
objectives 

Merton Council’s responsibilities for tackling climate change 
 

Page 90



15 

 

3.10 Members were informed that the Council is responsible for adhering to, and 
reporting against, the following mandatory legislation: 

 

• Annual greenhouse gas emissions reporting: of emissions from 
Merton’s own estate and operations to the Department of Energy and 
Climate Change (Appendix 1 details Merton’s greenhouse gas emissions); 

• Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy Efficiency Scheme (CRC): a 
mandatory scheme aimed at improving energy efficiency and cutting 
emissions in large public and private sector organisations. Participants are 
required to report their annual electricity and gas consumption from 
buildings and purchase allowances against emissions associated with 
their energy use. Qualification for the scheme is based on an annual 
electricity consumption of over 6,000 megawatt-hours (MWh); 

• Home Energy Conservation Act (1995): amendments to the Act require 
all English authorities to prepare a report setting out the energy 
conservation measures that the authority considers practicable, cost 
effective and likely to result in significant improvement in the energy 
efficiency of residential accommodation in the area; and 

• Flood and Water Management Act (2010): requires local authorities to 
take on the responsibility for leading the coordination of flood risk 
management in their area under the guise of lead local flood authority 

 
4.  What are we doing to tackle Climate Change? 
 
4.1 Members considered the Council’s current activity to address climate change. 

The Council has focused upon energy improvements in the Council’s own 
buildings and estates. Beyond the installation of energy efficient measures in 
its own estates, the Council has also facilitated behavioural change, 
particularly with the wider community on energy improvements, and through 
engagement with partners to change the way that people think about their 
energy usage.   
 

4.2 Members learned that energy improvements were being made/planned by the 
Council in three broad areas which all aimed to reduce the impact of 
greenhouse gas emissions, generate funding for the Council and support 
behavioural change among staff and residents.  
 

4.3 The three key areas were identified as the following, and the task group 
discussed the activity in each area: 

• Mitigation activity; 

• Affordable Warmth; and  

• Adaptations  
 
Mitigation activity 

4.4 The Council are currently engaged in the Greater London Authority’s (GLA) 
REFIT programme for council buildings which involves an upgrade to 

Page 91



16 

 

heating and lighting systems in the largest energy consuming buildings in the 
Council’s portfolio.  
 

4.5 Members learned that currently a total of 36 buildings are scheduled to be 
included in the REFIT project across three phases. This represents 13% of 
the Council’s operational building assets (excluding non-building operational 
assets). Those included in the programme have been selected as they are 
the buildings within the Council’s operational portfolio that are the poorest 
performing and/or largest emitters of CO2. 
 

4.6 In addition, the Council is currently working with the Greater London Authority 
(GLA) and Merton Chamber of Commerce on a pilot project to deliver energy 
efficiency retrofit works for SME's using the REFIT energy performance 
contracting model. The current proposal is to target leasing council-owned 
buildings in the non-operational assets estate.  

 
4.7 Members learned that the contractor overseeing the REFIT programme is 

responsible for delivering on commitments in relation to energy performance 
over an 8 year period. This is known as ‘energy performance contracting’, in 
which savings guaranteed that are not delivered are paid back by the 
contractor to the Council. This programme guarantees a saving for Merton of 
19% across the 10 buildings included in Phase 1. This is equivalent to 
financial savings of £42,672 and emissions reductions of 255 tonnes of CO2 
per annum.  

 
4.8 The REFIT programme will utilise a range of energy conservation measures 

to secure efficiency savings across the estate. The types of measures 
installed will vary according to the specific needs and requirements of the 
individual building, as outlined below:  

 

MEASURE BENEFITS 

Voltage optimisation 
Reduction in energy consumption of 
appliances through reduced voltages 

Lighting upgrades (LEDs) 
Reduction in electricity consumption from 
lighting 

Thermostatic radiator valves 
Improve local controls and reduce overall 
thermal energy demand 

Smart energy metering 
Improved data and information to support 
monitoring and behavioural change activities 

Building energy 
management upgrade 

Reduction in gas/electricity consumption by 
implementing energy saving controls strategy 

Plant room insulation 
upgrades 

Reduction in thermal energy waste and 
demand 

Appliance upgrades  
Install efficient appliances to reduce electricity 
consumption (e.g. heat pump tumble drier) 

Boiler plant upgrades 
Reduced gas consumption by improved 
efficiency of performance 

Upgrade heating controls 
Reduced gas demand through 
implementation of energy saving controls 

Page 92



17 

 

strategy 

Upgrade hot water controls 
Reduction in electricity demand through 
improved thermostat controls 

 
 
4.9 The Task Group learned that annual monitoring and verification of savings 

from each site will be undertaken throughout the duration of the project (8 
years) through: 

• Electricity consumption monitoring: direct measurement of voltages and 
current drawn by main meter and sub meters before/after installation.  

• Gas consumption monitoring: analysis of automated meter reading (AMR) 
data to verify achievement of annual savings 

• Lighting monitoring: measurement of electricity consumption as detailed 
above.   

4.10 Members learned that the Council had a programme for taking forward 
Renewable Energy sources in the form of Solar PV (photovoltaic). The task 
group heard that the efficiency in performance of solar panels is increasing 
and they are considered a robust renewable technology. The performance of 
Merton’s installed panels has exceeded that forecast in the original business 
case. This programme of investment will support the Council in reducing the 
use of traditional grid based provision, supplying zero carbon energy and 
generating an income through the Government’s Feed-in Tariff, which will 
result in a reduction in energy bills.  A business case for the next phase of the 
programme has been made. 

4.11 Members were informed that the Feed-in Tariff supports individuals and 
organisations, including communities, to generate low/zero-carbon electricity 
using small-scale renewable energy systems. The scheme covers 
technologies including solar PV panels, wind turbines, water turbines, 
anaerobic digestion (biogas energy) and micro combined heat and power 
(micro-CHP). Feed-in Tariffs provide a payment for the electricity that is 
generated over a 20-25 year period. The up-front costs of purchasing and 
installing the panels need to be funded. Merton Council anticipates a 7% 
return on investment from the solar PV panels it has installed.  

 

4.12 The Panel also learned that the Council was undertaking a Schools 
Insulation Project which involves loft insulation being installed in 13 Merton 
primary schools and commenced in 2012 with an investment of £80,000. 
Members were pleased to hear that Merton is also installing solar panels at 
schools and across the corporate estate. The Council currently has 305kWp 
of solar PV installed across 12 sites to date as part of three phases of 
installation. 

 
4.13 A further 470kWp of solar panels will be installed across nine more sites by 

the end of March 2014. This programme has been prioritised as it provides a 
zero carbon source of energy for sites and a significant reduction in CO2 

Page 93



18 

 

emissions. Furthermore, there will be a reduced reliance on grid electricity. 
An example was provided by officers of William Morris School which, since 
the installation of a 50kWp system, has reduced its electricity bills by 
£3500.00 over 2012/13.  

 
4.14 Members noted that the energy generated on site could be utilised with any 

excess sold back to the grid. The Task Group explored how this might 
provide an additional income stream for the Council. In doing so, they 
explored the possibility of expanding the existing programme of installing 
solar PV at school sites and providing a period of free energy and then 
supplying schools at a cheaper rate than other providers, with any excess 
sold back to the grid. This generates income for the Council and would not 
only ensure schools paid lower energy bills but also incentivise them to install 
such measures.  

 
4.15 All solar PV panels installed from Phases 1 & 2 (excluding Phase 0 in the 

Low Carbon Zone) have tri-party agreements in place which state that the 
Council can charge for the energy supplied to the site they are installed on. 
The Council have yet to utilise this arrangement (as of yet) but have the 
capability to do so once the agreed period of free energy has expired. 

 4.16 Members discussed the importance of a structured engagement and 
communications programme with schools to ensure that the schools could be 
well informed about the benefits of Solar PV and increase take up of this 
measure by schools.  

4.17 The task group agreed that what is needed is behavioural change in schools 
to encourage awareness and also to alleviate the concerns of pupils and 
parents about the aesthetics of Solar PV on the school, which can often be an 
issue when seeking to install these measures. Officers informed the task 
group that the Schools Energy Officer is actively visiting schools to engage 
them in the proposals for installing Solar PV and wider energy efficiency 
measures on their sites. Of the schools approached to date, only one had 
rejected the proposal to install Solar PV on their buildings.   

 
Recommendation 1 - That Cabinet, further to maximising the potential of its 

own sites, work with other public and private sector landowners, such as 

Registered Providers, private homeowners, businesses and community 

organisations install solar PV on their buildings where this is supported by a 

business case. 

Recommendation 2 - That Cabinet explore how solar PV could be made 

available to residents to access at cheaper rates/costs and how the Council 

may promote or support this scheme to enable communities to purchase their 

own renewable technology. This may be achieved through external capital 

investment or the ESCO.  

 

Page 94



19 

 

Affordable Warmth 

4.18 The Task Group heard that the affordable warmth element of the Council’s 

strategy sought to alleviate fuel poverty in domestic housing. 

 

The Big London Energy Switch 

4.19 As part of this work, Members discussed the Council’s work on collective 

energy switching. Members learned that £31,000 of funding was secured 

from the Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) in January 2013 

as part of a Pan-London bid to roll out ‘The Big London Energy Switch’. This 

programme sought to increase public awareness of the potential for reducing 

energy bills through collective switching and promote behavioural change 

 

4.20 As part of the programme energy auctions were held on a quarterly basis, 

which allowed residents to register an interest in switching. Vulnerable 

households (fuel poor, low income or benefits, those using prepayment 

meters) were actively engaged as well as those that hadn’t switched before. 

Merton undertook this work with 22 other London Boroughs, working 

alongside London Councils and with support on engagement from 

Sustainable Merton. 

   

4.21 The result of the programme was that in September 2013, 626 Merton 

residents registered (0.79%) for the Big London Energy Switch with 71% of 

those that registered identifying savings on their energy bill. The average 

saving for participants was £122 and as much as £243 was identified for one 

customer. Members agreed that this programme should continue and that the 

Council should continue to promote collective energy switching. 

  

5. Climate Change Strategy for Merton 2014 - 2017 
 

5.1 This review of climate change and the Green Deal is timely as the Council’s 
Climate Change Strategy is being refreshed and agreed for the 2014-2017 
period. Members commented upon the draft priorities and objectives within 
the strategy in relation to energy improvements, internal and external, in the 
following three areas: 

 

•  The Council’s own buildings and estate; 

•  Engaging the wider community on behavioural change and energy 
improvements; and 

•  Facilitating activities with partners 
 
5.2 In doing so, the task group considered the financial resources dedicated to 

climate change activity. Members established that, over all of the six key 

themes within the strategy, spending in this area constituted the following:  

Page 95



20 

 

TEAM TYPE BUDGET RESOURCE NOTES 

Capital £100,000 
Bid to increase to £150k 

p.a. from 2015/16 

Facilities Management 

Revenue 

Energy 

utility 

invest to 

save £290,000 

On-going funding for 

energy conservation 

activities and salary for 3 x 

FTE (Approx. £100k as of 

14/10/2013) 

Capital £140,000 
Funding up to 2013/14 for 

climate change activities 

Future Merton 

Revenue 

Climate 

change 

initiatives 
£68,000 

Approx. salary costs for x2 

FTE. No other revenue 

funding 

TOTAL £598,000   

 
5.3 Members noted that a third of this resource was directed towards staff salary 

(partnership work, promotions, project management) and two thirds of the 
resources were directed towards investment in buildings.  
 

5.4 As part of their review, the task group discussed the financial implications of 
non delivery of the proposed activities within the refresh of the Climate Change 
Strategy 2014-17, in the three key areas relating to energy improvements 
concerning the task group (mitigation, adaptation and affordable warmth). The 
impact was identified as: 
 
• Increasing energy prices/use – internal and external; 
• Falling down on the Carbon Reduction Commitment and impact on our 

carbon allowances (tax to be paid on CO2 production is £12 per tonne);  
• Public health costs (e.g. fuel poverty, excess winter deaths, hospital 

admissions); 
•  Direct and indirect costs associated with extreme events (e.g. road melting); 
•  Potential changes to the costs and availability of insurance; and  

• Potential changes to the value of assets  
 

5.5 Members were pleased to hear that the Council has undertaken consultation 
and held events with residents and partner organisations on a number of 
initiatives, including the Green Deal, Big London Energy Switch, and on 
behavioural change and addressing fuel poverty, which had informed their 
work on the refresh of the strategy. 

 
5.6 Given that the Council is aiming for a 1.5% year on year reduction in carbon 

emissions and to generate savings as part of Merton’s Climate Change 
Strategy, Members considered what opportunities there were for the Council to 

Page 96



21 

 

achieve this. In doing so, the task group explored the following lines of enquiry 
in the subsequent months of their review to generate recommendations that 
would enable energy improvements to be made in the short and longer term, 
and to be taken forward as part of the refresh of the Climate Change Strategy:  

 
• The Green Deal and ‘any other successor’ for Merton that would better 

appeal to, and meet, resident need; and  
 

• The business case for a Energy Services Company (ESCO) or Quasi 
Energy Services Company (QuESCO) in Merton 

 
Recommendation 3 - That the Council adopt Merton’s Climate Change 
Strategy 2014-2017, which has been reviewed by the Task group and revised 
to take account of its recommendations. 
 
Recommendation 4 - That Cabinet agree to build consideration of the 
adoption/installation of energy efficiency measures in appropriate council 
contracts being established or renewed by procurement, where feasible. 
 
Recommendation 5 - That representatives from each council Directorate 

participate in the Climate Change Steering Group, as appropriate, to consider 

cross cutting issues and projects relating to tackling climate change to ensure 

a strategic focus and leadership on climate change priorities.  

 
6  The Green Deal – is it suitable for Merton? 
 
6.1  Members considered the government’s Green Deal initiative, how the Council 

should respond, and whether it should be dedicating resources to its 
promotion going forward.  

 
What is the Green Deal? 
 
6.2 Members were informed that the Green Deal is a new measure designed by 

the government to encourage people to make their homes and businesses 
more energy efficient. The Green Deal includes measures such as loft 
insulation, cavity wall insulation, draft exclusion, draft proofing, new doors, 
windows, and new boilers. Residents or businesses who want to use the 
Green Deal commission an energy assessment of their premises to 
determine if they are eligible for the loan and establishing where they would 
benefit financially from these measures.  

 
6.3 The scheme offers pay-as-you-save loans to both domestic homes and 

businesses, which are used to pay for the energy-saving improvements 
installed. The loan operates under a “golden rule” which states that 
repayment of the loan has to be estimated as less than the amount the 
customer will save on their energy bills over the duration of the loan period. 
The loan is linked to the property where the energy efficiency measures have 
been carried out and repayments are added to the property’s energy bills. 

Page 97



22 

 

The incentive with these loans includes no up front costs for measures to be 
installed in residents’ homes.  

 
6.4 However, Members were informed that savings are not guaranteed through 

this scheme and that take-up by residents has been affected by a range of 
issues, including the interest rates attached to the loan. In some trials only 
30% of households met the golden rule and were entitled to the loans. The 
golden rule, Members heard, is also preventing the installation of other 
energy efficiency measures.  

 
6.5 The length of the process for securing finance for Green Deal to the point of 

installation was also cited as another reason for poor take up of the scheme. 
The four stages involved in residents seeking to install energy-efficiency 
measures in their homes through the Green Deal are as follows:  

 

• Green Deal assessment - Green Deal Assessor/Advisor visits the 
property to work out which energy efficiency improvements would be 
most beneficial; 

• Green Deal finance - customer finds a Green Deal Provider, who will 
arrange and fund the improvements. The customer is asked to sign a 
contract; 

• Installation - a Green Deal Installer (with an approved quality mark) will 
come to carry out the work; and  

• Repayment - interest is paid on the repayments (around 7% APR over 
25 years). Loans can be paid back over 5, 10, or 25-year periods 

 
6.6 Officers explained that, for the above reasons, the anticipated interest in the 

Green Deal in England and Wales had not materialised. In March 2013 the 
Government expected the take-up rate for the Green Deal to be 10,000 bill 
payers by the end of that year. However, the target was not met with 1,173 
had signed up by the end of November 2013. 

 
Green Deal Pioneer Places – take up of the Green Deal 
 
6.7 Members learned that the funding successfully secured as part of the Green 

Deal Pioneer Places scheme allowed local engagement on the Green Deal to 
try and encourage take up, with Merton securing £46,000 for this task. The 
borough bid for and successfully secured the funding for the Green Deal 
assessment phase and a questionnaire on the Green Deal, working with 
Sustainable Merton.  

 
6.8 Members heard that Merton Council engaged with 600 households attending 

residents’ association meetings, offering free assessments, distributing 
publication materials and running information events on energy efficiency. 
Furthermore, 2,000 households were engaged by Sustainable Merton, and 62 
households received a free Green Deal assessment. As a result of this 
process, one household in Merton signed up to have Green Deal measures 
installed.  

 

Page 98



23 

 

6.9 Merton residents expressed their concerns about the Green Deal during the 
consultation which ranged from the relatively low actual savings, the length of 
the payback period, and reservations about interest rates. Furthermore, they 
expressed concerns about repayments being handled by the owners of the 
property and products breaking before they have been paid for. Overall, 
Sustainable Merton found in their consultation with residents that there is 
interest in tackling climate change, but there was scepticism about the Green 
Deal being the best route to do so.  

 
6.10 Members considered the issue of financing the Green Deal as one of the 

main reasons residents were not taking up this initiative. Officers advised that 
people who could afford to pay for the changes up front would purchase their 
own energy efficiency measures. The scheme therefore was aimed at people 
who may find it hard to secure finance for energy efficiency improvements to 
their home.  

   
Alternatives to the Green Deal 
 
6.11 Members considered instead the possibility of adopting a local Green Deal 

which may respond to residents concerns expressed during the Green Deal 
Pioneer Places consultation phase. The task group was informed that the 
GLA has suggested three alternative Green Deal models for London 
boroughs which were outlined as:  

 

• The Promoter Model  - Merton could carry out a marketing campaign to 
help Green Deal providers identify properties for Green Deal assessment; 
 

• The Producer Model - Merton would assess homes in the borough 
(potentially through the creation of a development company). Addresses 
would be passed on to Green Deal Providers; and 
 

• The Provider Model - Merton would become the Green Deal Provider, 
providing finance and working with a single delivery partner.  

 
6.12 For residents, alternatives to the Green Deal have been taken up such as the 

Energy Company Obligation (ECO) scheme. This is a charge which is added 
to all energy bills in England and Wales which subsidises the cost of home 
insulation for people experiencing fuel poverty in low-income groups and 
those whose homes are not eligible for the pay-as-you-save loans due to not 
meeting the “golden rule”. The ECO funding mechanism is aimed at those 
residents who are not able to pay for the energy efficiency measures or those 
whose properties are considered to be ‘hard to treat’ and therefore 
prohibitively expensive (unlike the Green Deal which is for people who are 
able to repay loans).  

 
6.13 Members found that although annual repayments are designed to be less 

than actual savings achieved through the Green Deal, they may still exceed 
the amount saved. Task group members also considered the fact that there 
have been 100,000 Green Deal assessments nationally, but just over 1,000 
bill payers have signed Green Deal Plans and there have been only 481 

Page 99



24 

 

Green Deal measures completed. However, 303,795 ECO measures were 
taken up by the end of October 2013. 

 
6.14 Members noted that ECO has been more successful because measures are 

delivered free of charge, with energy companies achieving around 15% of 
their target.  

 
6.15 The task group were informed that the ECO has three obligations, which are 

primarily aimed at those who are unable to pay for energy efficiencies, these 
are:  

 

• The Carbon Emissions Reduction Obligation (solid wall and hard-to-
treat cavity wall insulation), which can be used in conjunction with the 
Green Deal; 

• The Carbon Savings Community Obligation (insulation measures 
and connection to district heating systems in low income and rural 
areas); and  

• The Home Heating Cost Reduction Obligation (affordable warmth 
measures such as reducing the cost of space heating, together with 
replacement of boilers).  

 
6.16 Members therefore chose to explore alternatives to the Green Deal in this 

review and were informed that, under the Localism Act, council’s have 
powers to establish and manage Energy Services Companies (ESCOs) that 
offer the possibility of providing energy to residents at a cheaper rate than 
they are currently paying and of generating an income stream that the 
Council could utilise in funding other energy efficiency projects, such as a 
local Green Deal.  

  
6.17 Members also considered the advice of the Director of Environment and 

Regeneration and agreed that there could be a renewed programme to 
promote the Green Deal and ensure that the issues identified could be 
addressed to increase take up. This was felt to be a more financially viable 
option for the council as it was unable to allocate funding to roll out a local 
Green Deal. Going forward, Members were advised, there would need to be 
an analysis of the existing provision, such as the Green Deal and ECO 
funding, and how these options might be exhausted before any other local 
council delivered options, such as local Green Deal, would be considered as 
it was not felt that it was a viable option at this time.  

 
Recommendation 6 - That Cabinet promote the Green Deal and consider the 
existing provision, such as ECO funding, to address some of the issues associated 
with the national Green Deal scheme, as reported by residents, which has resulted 
in low take up and ensure that it meets local needs. 
 
7. Exploring the feasibility of an ESCO for Merton 
 
What is an ESCO? 
 

Page 100



25 

 

7.1 Members learned that an ESCO is an Energy Savings Company that is set up 
as a trading company which is able to provide a wide variety of energy 
services such as energy purchasing, generation and supply. 

 
7.2 ESCOs can bring a variety of benefits to the local community, including 

alleviating fuel poverty and income generation as well as supporting councils’ 
to achieve their carbon emissions reduction targets.  

 
Categories of ESCOs 
 
7.3 Members were informed that ESCOs tend to fall into three categories:  
 

•  Wholly owned by the private sector;  

•  Public sector ESCOs; and  

•  Private sector organisations operating with energy performance contracts 
 
What needs to be considered when setting up an ESCO? 
 
7.4 Members heard that Merton already has a foundation in place to establish a 

QuESCO which would have the following features/benefits:  
 

• a revolving internal loan fund which allows the Council to make energy 
efficiency improvements to council facilities; 

• facility to access Salix loans; and 

• energy generation assets of its own, such as a gas-fired CHP system and 
solar photovoltaic systems, including schools-based solar PV 
 

7.5 Members were informed that the foundation of a QuESCO offers the 
opportunity for the development of an external ESCO in the future and the 
potential to deliver energy to the local community and on a commercial basis.  

 
7.6 Members explored how the costs and risk associated with set up and 

operation of the ESCO could be mitigated/addressed. Members heard that 
funding could be acquired through significant investment from the Council’s 
capital programme, in the first instance, or through joint delivery with an 
external partner. It might also be possible to set up a stand alone vehicle for 
an ESCO either through a public/private partnership or some form of social 
enterprise. Members agreed that this latter arrangement would emphasise the 
important social benefits the ESCO would afford residents in Merton and 
being central to the business case of this model.  

 
7.7 Members also agreed that the costs of establishing an ESCO in terms of 

distribution, infrastructure and legal and financial support would need to be 
factored in to any business case for an ESCO in Merton. This investment 
could potentially be a high risk to the authority as establishing a successful 
ESCO is a long term project with a number of significant challenges. Funding 
sources would therefore have to be explored.  

 
 

Page 101



26 

 

7.8 The task group learned that there was an opportunity, through the revolving 
loan fund attached to the ESCO, to establish new energy networks in Merton 
for the production or supply of energy, as well as provide loans for energy 
efficiency improvements to homes in the borough using the Green Deal-style 
“pay as you save” model. It could also aid the improvement of the commercial 
sector in the borough via the use of the energy performance contracting 
concept, harnessing what Merton has learned from its REFIT programme.  

 
7.9 Officers presented the quasi-ESCO (QuESCO) model versus the full ESCO 

model to Members which is outlined in Appendix 4 of this report.  
 
 
 
 
Benchmarking - Examples of ESCOs run by Local Authorities 
 
7.10 Members heard that established ESCOs operate in Southampton (run by the 

city council since 1986) and Woking (since 1999). Peterborough city council 
has recently introduced an ESCO.  

 
Woking 
 
7.11 The Woking ESCO is 90% owned by Woking Borough Council via a holding 

company called Thamewey Ltd, with a 10% stake held by a private firm called 
Xergi. In terms of control, the ESCO is retained by the local authority and thus 
the authority is liable to more risk. Profits remain within the public sector and 
are then recycled back into green/climate change projects. This model 
required an initial investment of £250K in 1999.   

 
7.12 Woking, Members discovered, is renowned for using an internal revolving 

climate change fund, without the need for a holding company or partner 
organisation to deliver the project. The revolving loan fund allows money 
received from external sources to be focused explicitly on energy projects. Its 
revolving loan fund was started with a capital figure of £250,000, which was 
invested in improvements and creation of local CHP networks 

 
Southampton 
 
7.13 Southampton (holding company called Southampton Geothermal Heating 

Company Ltd), on the other hand, is run on behalf of the city council by a 
private company (Utilicom) which keeps a majority of the profits. This does 
minimise the financial risk to the local council which receives a profit (usually 
around 10K to 15K per annum). However, the majority of any income is 
retained by Utilicom. This model was funded by an EU grant and Utilicom. It 
has successfully reduced household bills by 25%.    

 
Best Practice – Blue Sky Peterborough 
 

Page 102



27 

 

7.14 Members met with representatives from Peterborough City Council, and their 
legal and financial advisors, to consider the ESCO they have established, 
known as ‘Blue Sky Peterborough’ to consider good practice in this area.  

 
Why did Peterborough City Council set up an ESCO? 
 
7.15 Peterborough explained that they chose to establish an ESCO to trade 

surplus energy, supplying the Council’s needs in the first instance. The ESCO 
was also set up to:  

 
• Generate Renewable Energy; 
• Reduce Energy Consumption; 
• Enable regeneration; 
• Reduce carbon; and  
• Financial benefits – savings/income (long term revenue income streams 

from the sale of surplus energy 
 
7.16 Blue Sky Peterborough was established by Peterborough City Council in 

2011 in order to meet the following objectives: 
 

• Self supply; 

• Generate a profit from the sale of its excess energy; 

• Be scalable/sellable to other councils; 

• Keep costs of supply/transmission low; 

• Result in a cheap, “Peterborough tariff” for local residents; and 

• Allow Peterborough to be self-sufficient for energy (acknowledging that 
this is a more aspirational, longer term goal that may not be entirely 
feasible) 

 
7.17 Officers from Blue Sky Peterborough posed the question to the task group 

about the objectives/priorities that an ESCO would meet and why the task 
group felt this might be the best approach to take. Members heard that the 
term ESCO can mean many things to many people and delivering a number 
of energy improvements and creating energy streams could be delivered by 
the Council independently of an ESCO. In particular, Members noted that 
these measures could be delivered without having to address certain 
legislative, regulatory and financial challenges that establishing an ESCO 
presents. 

 
7.18 Members noted that the rationale for setting up an ESCO for Peterborough 

City Council related to localising energy production to make it more efficient, 
promoting the Localism agenda through decentralisation of energy, 
addressing the budget deficit through the production, supply and selling of 
energy, and to develop, install and finance projects to improve energy 
efficiency. However, the company had not traded since its incorporation.  

 
Legal Considerations when establishing an ESCO 
 
7.19 Members heard from Peterborough City Council of the need to consider the 

alternatives to setting up an ESCO as it can only operate in accordance with 

Page 103



28 

 

any business case mandates that the Council wishes it to pursue anyway. 
The task group were informed that there are a number of alternatives 
including: 

 
• Not pursuing provision of an energy supply if it does not promise a 

worthwhile income generation stream; 
• Undertaking projects in-house; and 
• Establishing an ESCO in partnership with another party as a joint venture 

with a shareholding of less than 20% 
  

7.20 Members learned that a local authority has limited statutory powers to trade 
for profit. It must therefore set itself up as a separate company. A number of 
provisions must be adhered to in this. Officers explained that licensing an 
ESCO relies upon the following:  

  
• The focus of ESCO as it is a wholly owned subsidiary that the Council 

operates and owns; 
• How the ESCO intends to trade their energy supply, for example, 

internally or for commercial purposes 
• Whether the focus of the ESCO is on Generation; Distribution; or Supply 

(retail) will impact the form of the ESCO and what is required for its 
operation 

 
7.21 The task group learned that the regulation that is required to be followed 

when setting up an ESCO falls under the Local Government Act (2003) (LA 
Trading Companies – to trade for commercial purposes) and the Localism Act 
(2011) using the ‘general power of competence’. An ESCO requires that a 
board of Directors and shareholders be set up with responsibility for making 
financial and commercial decisions, which carries the risk of competing views 
and the need to ensure profits for shareholders through its operation.  

 
7.22 Members were informed that an ESCO requires a relatively large customer 

base to meet administrative costs in the first instance. Members heard that 
Peterborough had approached the licensing of their ESCO by establishing a 
joint venture with license holders to avoid un-necessary regulation. This 
involves set up costs, management of administrative costs and regulatory 
issues being the sole responsibility of the local authority. Peterborough City 
Council recommended that the Council avoid additional licensing regimes, 
where possible, and to note that not all income generation needs to be within 
the boundaries of the authority.  

 
7.23 Members considered that in Peterborough, the ESCO was established as a 

trading company of Peterborough City Council (“PCC”) with a board of 
Directors appointed by PCC established from members and officers. The 
Company is limited by shares, with the entire issued share capital of 100 
shares of £1 each owned by Peterborough City Council. The directors have 
commercial and fiduciary duties and recognise the need to establish clear 
lines to avoid conflict.  

 
What can an ESCO achieve? 

Page 104



29 

 

 
7.24 The task group heard that Peterborough City Council agreed to set up their 

ESCO to deliver the following energy initiatives: 

• Solar power 

• District heating 

• Income streams through infrastructure and regeneration plans 
 
7.25 The ESCO supports Peterborough City Council to meet efficiency savings 

targets and savings from the ESCO is estimated year on year, (built into the 
Council’s MTFS), as outlined in the table below:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Energy £K £K £K £K £K 

Wind & Ground 
Mounted 441 217 954 4,426 4,983 

General saving Target 462 494 514 514 514 

Total 903 711 1468 4940 5497 

 
 
7.26 Blue Sky Peterborough has also delivered the following energy improvements 

as part of their ESCO: 
 

• Solar power and schools: Peterborough’s approach is to charge 
schools for the power produced but cap their exposure to energy price 
rises at RPI. In their experience, schools are happy with this. The key to 
this is managing stakeholder relationships with the heads of schools and 
governors. For example, Peterborough City Council runs a green boot 
camp for teachers to raise awareness. To date, solar panels have been 
installed on 16 of their schools; 

 

• Working with British Gas in a strategic partnership to deliver ECO 
and Green Deal efficiency improvements to household, particularly those 
in fuel poverty;  

 

• Collective switching – 10% of households have registered to date to a 
new tariff as part of this scheme; 

 

• SME switching – 29 businesses have switched supplier to reduce their 
energy costs and increase their competitiveness; 

 

• Setting up an Energy performance framework agreement to implement 
energy efficiency improvements to council properties with the possibility 

Page 105



30 

 

of widening the scope to other local authorities, social housing and other 
organisations; and 

 

• Evaluation of solar panel installation on new sites such as colleges, 
sports centres, recycling centres etc. 

 
How to engage Members and residents in the establishment of an ESCO 
 
7.27 Members enquired about the best way to secure buy in for an ESCO. 

Representatives explained that with regard to securing buy in from residents 
for an ESCO, engagement and consultation needs to be undertaken on the 
individual energy improvements by product/initiative. Member support should 
be gathered through approval and delivery of the Council’s Climate Change 
Strategy and budget.  

 
8.  An ESCO for Merton - Options 
 
8.1 Having considered the evidence presented above and the discussions with 

Merton officers, and with external organisations, such as Peterborough City 
Council, the Task Group asked that a proposal be produced outlining 
potential options and routes for establishing a local ESCO. This would 
provide a grounding for Cabinet to take forward the groups recommendations 
regarding an ESCO for Merton in the future (please refer to Appendix 3 and 
4).  

 
8.2 The task group debated the Council’s ability to generate electricity and to 

become a provider of energy or utilities to other council buildings, for example 
schools, and the local community. Members were particularly interested in the 
opportunity to offer support to residents in this approach, beyond our estates, 
which would have real social benefits.  

 
8.3 Members also considered that the establishment of an ESCO which would 

place the Council in a position where it could commercially, individually or 
with a partner, make a profit, operating through a limited company. There is 
the possibility that, in consultation with relevant organisations such as limited 
companies, or limited liability partnerships, the ESCO can pursue a number of 
energy related projects.  

 
8.4 The ESCO model then provides the authority with the opportunity to trade 

commercially as all shares are/can be held by the Council and commercial 
opportunities can be capitalised upon as they arise. The Council can also 
determine if it is better for energy projects to be undertaken by the Council or 
the ESCO.  

 
8.5 The task group considered the possibility of setting up a Quasi ESCO 

(QuESCO), as outlined in the Council’s refreshed Climate Change Strategy, 
as a stepping stone to a full ESCO model at a later date. This would be an 
internal ESCO which would enable funds to be generated and ring fenced for 
council initiatives.  

 

Page 106



31 

 

8.6 Members learned that the key distinction between the quasi ESCO and the 
full ESCO is that the quasi ESCO is internal and that the Council is able to 
supply energy to its own sites without needing a license. The legal and 
licensing framework that is required to be met when establishing an ESCO 
was discussed with the legal representatives that supported Peterborough 
City Council in establishing their ESCO.  

 
8.7  Members agreed that the full external ESCO was an ambitious longer term 

objective which would require a number of financial, regulatory and legal 
challenges and barriers to be met/addressed. The possibility of establishing 
an ESCO for Merton, and the associated benefits outlined below, Members 
felt should be taken forward to consider its feasibility. This was felt to be a 
worthwhile piece of work that could be done to establish the opportunities it 
presents for Merton:  

 

• Financial benefits for the Council (income stream); 

• Improved energy efficiency in, and reduced energy costs to, council 
buildings/estates, including schools; 

• Providing opportunities for funding other energy improvement initiatives 
from a central funding ring fenced pot; and  

• Social benefits for residents including protection from increasing energy 
costs and to alleviate fuel poverty 

 
8.8  Furthermore, Members felt that the QuESCO in the shorter term would 

provide the Council with experience and a knowledge base in setting up the 
full ESCO in due course, acknowledging that the process for setting up the 
ESCO and time taken to  realise the anticipated benefits.  
 
Rationale for an ESCO in Merton 
 

8.9 Members requested that a business case be drafted with the information 
available within the timescales for the review that would inform their 
deliberations on the feasibility of an ESCO for Merton. 

 
8.10 The task group heard that Merton Council has developed a wealth of 

experience in delivering sustainability-based projects that have also 
demonstrated the ability to deliver positive financial outcomes; notably in the 
delivery of low/zero carbon energy technologies (primarily solar photovoltaic). 

 
8.11 This experience has enabled the Council to be in a position where there is 

scope to expand the delivery of localised energy projects on a wider scale 
with a view to generating a profit (whether commercially, individually or with a 
partner) and delivering wider environmental, economic and social 
enhancements.  

 
8.12 However, with regard to the possibility of an ESCO, not all of these activities 

would necessitate the immediate development of an ESCO but, in order to 
deliver a profit-making enterprise, the Council would be required to operate 
through a limited company. The primary purpose for establishing a Merton 
ESCO would therefore be to allow the Council to take advantage of powers to 

Page 107



32 

 

trade commercially with the aim of generating a profit. Any profits arising from 
commercial trading could then be utilised to deliver further energy efficiency, 
emissions reductions and environmental projects depending upon which 
outcome(s) are deemed to be the greatest priority. 
 
How could an ESCO in Merton be developed? 
 

8.13 Members were informed that the development of a local energy services 
could be achieved through the following three stages, subject to financial and 
technical viability. The stages are not mutually exclusive and could be 
implemented independently or in parallel. 
 

Stage 1: Local energy generation and supply via solar PV 
 
8.14 The Council already owns a sizeable portfolio of solar photovoltaic panels 

with an installed capacity of 305kWp across 13 buildings. An additional 
460kWp of solar panels are scheduled for install across a further eight sites 
by 31 March 2014. The Council has tri-party agreements in place for each 
system that enable it to derive the full income from the Feed-in Tariff and 
maintain an option to introduce energy charging for the electricity supplied to 
each site. 

 
8.15 The current PV installations provide an internal rate of return of 5-7%.  Whilst 

the financial returns on PV are still favourable, officers’ recommended that 
installing solar panels on as many Council and non-Council owned buildings 
as possible, would replicate the tri-party power purchase model currently in 
use.  

 
8.16 Members heard that there are three potential routes for the expansion of solar 

PV which are as follows:  
 

1) Utilise all viable Council operational roof-space under existing tri-
party Agreements 

 
8.17 The amount of viable roof space on the Council’s operation stock is limited, 

so any future installed capacity would be in the order of 1000kWp. Scoping 
studies are being carried out by the Council’s solar PV contractor Mark Group 
Ltd to evaluate potential sites for a fourth phase of solar PV installations.  

 
2) Utilise most profitable non-operational sites in accordance with a 

power purchase agreement 
 
8.18 Non-operational (commercial) sites should be included in a future scoping 

study of potential locations for the expansion of solar PV. These sites 
generally provide larger roof space and therefore better opportunities to install 
large PV systems and maximise the energy generation potential. The amount 
of viable roof space on the non-operational stock is yet to be determined. First 
order estimates suggest that future capacity could be in excess of 1000kWp. 

 

Page 108



33 

 

3) Install solar panels on private-owned sites on a roof lease type 
arrangement in accordance with a power purchase agreement 

 
8.19 The task group were informed that exploration of opportunities to locate 

Merton-owned PV on private-owned sites in the borough should go ahead. 
Detailed scoping studies would be required in order to determine the potential 
future capacity. In addition, legal advice would be required to clarify the 
Council’s legal limitations regarding energy generation and supply. 

 
Stage 2: Development of district heat network (generation and/or supply) 
 
8.20 Officer explained that a clear ambition for a Merton ESCO should be to 

generate and/or distribute heat and power through a local district heat 
network (either independently or in partnership with a third party). The 
Council is already exploring the viability for district heating in Merton and has 
submitted two bids to the Department of Energy and Climate Change’s Heat 
Network Distribution Unit (HNDU) for assistance in delivering detailed 
feasibility work, with additional bids planned for future rounds of HNDU 
funding. The HNDU provide match funding (67% grant alongside 33% match 
funding) and assistance with the procurement of specialist consultants.  

 
8.21 The task group learned that bids have currently been submitted for two 

locations as follows: 
 

Morden Town Centre (Project cost: £30k – application approved) 
 
8.22 The Morden Station regeneration will provide the opportunity to service 

around 1900 new residential units (over two phases), a 2,100m2 
supermarket, 1,350m2 of small retail units and a new 80 room hotel 
(2,600m2) and potentially connect to existing dwellings and shops in Morden 
Town Centre. Furthermore, the Morden Town Centre regeneration provides 
the opportunity to connect Morden Civic Centre’s existing 200kWp Gas CHP 
system to a decentralised energy network. 

 
Colliers Wood and South Wimbledon (Project cost: £80k – application 
result pending 

 
8.23 Opportunities for the development of a decentralised energy network fit 

strategically with Merton’s regeneration and housing delivery objectives and 
plans for the intensification of sites around Colliers Wood Town Centre. This 
includes the refurbishment of the Brown and Root Tower and additional sites 
identified in the Council’s draft Sites and Policies Plan & draft Policies Map. 

 
Stage 3: Delivery and resourcing of local energy efficiency retrofit 
 
8.24 Domestic sector: The Scrutiny Task Group indicated a desire to explore a 

local funding mechanism that could provide support for domestic energy 
efficiency retrofit activities to offer a local alternative to the current Green Deal 
scheme. No detailed analysis has yet taken place for the viability of a Merton 

Page 109



34 

 

local domestic ‘Green Deal’ scheme and advice would be sought on the 
feasibility of a local scheme.  

 
8.25 However, when members met with Merton Priory Homes and Circle Housing 

they highlighted a successful local Green Deal model in the North East. 
Gentoo became an accredited Green Deal Provider after signing an 
agreement with the Government in which 22 local organisations worked on 
developing key Green Deal systems and processes for consumers. These 
organisations were required to go through a robust accreditation process in 
order to become accredited Green Deal Providers.  

 
8.26 Gentoo was one of the first social landlords to join the Green Deal Finance 

Company with a view to building upon its existing energy efficiency retrofit 
portfolio by aspiring to become a Green Deal Provider.  Gentoo owns 
approximately 29,000 social homes and has already delivered a number of 
retrofit schemes, including a Green Deal pilot the ‘Energy Saving Bundle’, on 
its own stock.  79% of 1200 homes have taken up this local Green Deal and 
there have been no upfront costs to residents.   

 
8.27 Non-domestic sector: In addition to Merton’s own contract with the GLA’s RE: 

Fit framework, the Council is also running a pilot project with the GLA and 
Merton Chamber of Commerce to offer RE: Fit to local small medium 
enterprises over the period 2014/15. The findings of the pilot will help to 
assess the viability of local led commercial scheme. 
 
Solar PV 

 
8.28 The current installation costs of solar PV through the Council’s appointed 

contractors is £1,000 - £1,500 per kW installed. The current PV return on 
investment is between 5-7% from the generation tariff. Once the Council 
exceeds 25 registered solar systems, the level of Feed-in Tariff will be 
reduced for all subsequent systems installed. Despite this, the financial 
returns on investment are predicted to exceed 5%. 

 
8.29 A programme of installation of Solar PV is underway on council buildings. 

This is both reducing the carbon footprint and generating financial savings 
towards the Council’s budget deficit. There would be complex financial issues 
in seeking to deliver the existing PV programme via an ESCO rather than 
continuing installations in house. This would require further investigation 
before a clear approach can be determined. 

  
  District Heat Network 
 
8.30 Officers explained that a detailed business case would be subject to the 

completion of technical feasibility work. The split between doing this in house 
on council owned assets and facilitating wider development would require 
further analysis. The existing CHP power plant at the Civic Centre could 
potentially serve other council facilities in the vicinity. Members heard that it 
was likely to benefit the Council financially to manage this in house. 

 

Page 110



35 

 

Energy efficiency retrofit 
 
8.31 Members learned that the REFIT for SMEs project will provide further detailed 

analysis of the potential scope for investment in non-domestic energy 
efficiency retrofit. It should be noted that it has been difficult to attract interest 
in many of the “Green Deal” schemes. 

 
How would an ESCO for Merton be funded? 
 
8.32 The task group were informed of the potential funding sources for the ESCO, 

these included the following sources: 
 

• Offsite contributions (2014-2016): payments from new development 
arising that fail to meet onsite CO2 reduction requirements; 
 

• Allowable Solutions (2016 onwards): developer contributions from 
shortfall in meeting zero carbon homes CO2 reduction targets onsite; 
and  

 

• London Energy Efficiency Fund (LEEF): £100m fund to be lent to public 
or private sector borrowers on projects that promote energy efficiency. 

 
8.33 The availability of funding for the sort of investments mentioned is going to be 

the limiting factor, plus the ability to repay the finance at the rate of interest at 
which it is provided and deprecate the assets though the accounts of the 
company. This will be challenging for some of the proposals.  

 
Legal and Statutory considerations when establishing an ESCO 
 

Local authority companies 
 
8.34 The task group considered the legal and statutory requirements of 

establishing an ESCO, which they also explored in terms of the first hand 
experience of Peterborough Council when they established their own ESCO 
and the legal support and advice they required. 

 
8.35 Members heard that Local authorities are established and governed by 

statute and thus can only act where they have a relevant statutory power. 
Those powers must be exercised reasonably and in accordance with the 
purpose of the legislation. A local authority has a limited number of statutory 
powers which permits it to trade for profit beyond which it may still do so, 
providing there is no statutory duty to provide the services and subject to a 
number of constraints. The most significant constraint is that a local authority 
can only trade commercially through establishing a separate company. In 
setting up and operating such a company, the local authority must adhere to 
a number of provisions, including a prerequisite of approving a business plan, 
transparency of accounts, restrictions on payments to local authority staff and 
members when acting through the company, and having regard to guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State. 

 

Page 111



36 

 

Sale of electricity 
 
8.36 Officers explained that there is a restriction contained in s.11(3) of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 which provided for local 
authorities to sell energy but only that produced from a heat source. This 
prevented local authorities being full participants in the government’s 
decentralised energy policy, so the government made Regulations in exercise 
of the powers conferred by the 1976 Act which allows local authorities to sell 
energy they produce from renewable energy sources (e.g. energy from wind, 
solar, biomass and biogas) back to the national electricity grid. This came into 
force on 18thAugust 2010 as The Sale of Electricity by Local Authorities 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2010 (SI 2010/1910). The power given by 
these Regulations is sufficient to cover a very wide range of renewable 
options for local authorities. 

 
Environmental considerations when establishing an ESCO 
 
8.37 Members heard that the environmental considerations and impact of the 

range of initiatives discussed that may be delivered by, or independently of, 
an ESCO would be aligned with Merton’s draft Climate Change Strategy 
(2014-2017) and support the delivery of national targets, including the UK 
Climate Change Act 2008 and the EU 2020 climate and energy targets. 

 
How to take the ESCO model forward – some considerations 
 
8.38 Members considered the proposal and the advice of officers and the Assistant 

Director of Finance and agreed that there are a number of solutions which 
could be rolled out sooner and also would be better suited to an ESCO 
model. Partnership arrangements also enable shared risk, funding, and a 
greater range of energy technologies to be rolled out.  Furthermore, a number 
of the initiatives proposed may be best taken forward under the Councils 
regeneration programme, alone or in partnership.  

 
8.39 In considering what the overarching strategic aim of the ESCO was, Members 

of the task group were in agreement that the sole purpose of an ESCO should 
not just be about generating income.  It was also important that the ESCO 
addressed fuel poverty which was a real threat. The task group insisted that 
the business case for an ESCO reflect both financial and social benefits and 
its focus should be agreed (supply/generation) and reflected in council policy, 
climate change, regeneration and other associated council policies.  

 
8.40 There was also a need for consideration of ways in which developing an 

ESCO is a response to climate change that will identify Merton as one of the 

leading authorities in this area.  This in turn may lead to Merton being 

approached or in a better position to access any additional funding for energy 

improvements that may present itself, or to capitalise on partner interest in 

working with local authorities in this area. 

 

Page 112



37 

 

Recommendation 7 – That Cabinet commission a feasibility study to look at 

establishing an Energy Services Company (ESCO) for Merton, with a view to 

producing a business case for the ESCO which should include a risk 

assessment of the proposals.  A further detailed investigation into the 

potential for a Merton ESCO should include: 

• Future Merton obtaining specialist legal advice on the Council’s scope 
and legal limitations in generating, distributing and selling energy and 
advise on the development of an ESCO; 

• Feasibility investigations into the potential for district heating at Morden 
Town Centre and Colliers Wood / South Wimbledon 

• Further scoping of energy efficiency retrofit potential in Merton  

• Identification of where exiting regeneration proposals/programmes may 
take forward energy efficiency improvements, alone or in partnership 
without the need for an ESCO to be in place. 

Recommendation 8 – That Cabinet receives a report on progress on rolling out 
the expansion of the Merton solar PV portfolio, and on the scope for making 
further investment, subject to the results of a scoping exercise and a viable 
business case. This business case should include an appraisal of whether this 
should be undertaken via an ESCO or not.  
 
9. Behavioural Change 
 
9.1 The task group considered the behavioural change and engagement that 

would need to take place to ensure the greatest efficiencies could be 
achieved from the range of products and initiatives the Council was delivering 
and promoting to residents.   

 
9.2 A conference on Climate Change and Community Engagement was attended 

by one of the group’s co-opted members, with a view to gathering any 
information on good practice, in relation to influencing behavioural change 
and raising awareness of how climate change effects can be 
prevented/tackled by council staff, local businesses and residents. 

  
9.3 With regard to the evidence presented at the conference, the task group 

agreed that steps should be taken by the Council to raise awareness; 
engage people; and to empower residents to take action through a number 
of channels. 

 
9.4 Members heard that continued productive working relationships with 

organisations such as Sustainable Merton could ensure messages could be 
communicated to wide and diverse audience. The issue with raising 
awareness and understanding about climate change, it was felt, was that the 
issue is currently too big for people to fully grasp and constantly shifting 
agendas don’t help residents to gain a clear picture of what is happening to 
the climate and what can be done to mitigate negative impact.  

 
9.5 Members heard that people need a positive story about how they can make a 

Page 113



38 

 

difference for any behavioural change to become a reality and felt that Merton 
as undertaking good work in this area which should be publicised. The 
information given to them needs to be interesting and engaging, and they 
need to feel confident enough to make changes in their daily lives.   

 
9.6 Furthermore, the task group heard that the possibility of offering incentives 

and potential savings for residents should be given some consideration when 
seeking to influence behavioural change.  

 
Recommendation 9 - That the Council develop a marketing and engagement 
strategy to ensure the widest promotion and awareness raising of energy 
efficiency measures and improvements that staff, residents and local 
businesses can access. 
 

10.  Consultation with Merton Priory Homes – Energy efficiency of Merton’s 
housing stock 

 
10.1 Members invited Merton Priory Homes (MPH) and Circle Housing to 

contribute their thoughts on the task group’s findings to date and their 
emerging recommendations. Furthermore, Members wished to hear about the 
energy and green strategy for MPH. 

 
10.2 The task group heard that Circle’s Energy Saving and Warm Homes Strategy 

aims to: 
 

• Provide properties that are energy efficient; 

• Support customers to live in comfort and affordably heat their homes; 

• Enable customers to save energy and save money where possible; 
and 

• Enhance life chances through improved health, opportunities and 
finances 

 
10.3 Members heard that Circle Housing/MPH have 68% of their properties SAP 

65 and above and there are opportunities to further insulate stock and 
improve energy efficiency. There were 998 homes identified as needing solid 
wall insulation and repairs and maintenance contractors have been instructed 
to ensure heating, insulation and glazing meets decent homes standards. 

 
10.4 The task group learned that Circle Housing/MPH have endeavoured to 

support their customers to save money on fuel bills through ‘my home energy 
switch’. This is an individual switching service which supports customers 
through he process and has potential savings of £100-200 per year on energy 
bills. MPH customers have saved nearly £3000 in this programme; 

 
10.5 There are also resident energy champions in place with 60 champions trained 

by an external organisation to provide advice on energy efficiency. 1200 
residents have been advised by Champions to date. Energy champions can 
provide top tips which can save people up to £250. The focus is on the most 

Page 114



39 

 

vulnerable residents to provide them with the best advice on how to manage 
their energy. 

 
10.6 As Members were aware, there is a regeneration programme planned, which 

is in the early stages of development, by MPH.  A design team will be 
appointed soon to undertake the master planning design phase which will be 
completed at the end of 2014. This programme will aims to: 

 

• Improve the building fabric and replace inefficient and expensive to 
heat homes; 

• Ensure houses are built to at least code level 4; 

• Reduce fuel poverty and carbon footprint; 

• Include sustainability throughout the process of design and build; 

• Explore opportunities to produce heat and power locally; and  

• Reduce waste through the construction process 
  
10.7 Circle Housing/Merton Priory Homes stated that they would be willing to 

engage in preliminary consultation on the recommendations made by the task 
group on both the technical aspects and possible energy efficiency 
technologies, and also on policy, and where they might see opportunities for 
joint working and delivery of similar initiatives. Although this was subject to 
much more detailed discussion and consultation and no agreements were 
made at this stage.  

 
10.8 A response was provided to the recommendations made by the task group by 

Circle Housing/MPH which TTTT (to include when response received – to 
be tabled at the Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Panel meeting on 26th 
March for consideration, with a view to inclusion in the recommendations of 
the task group).  

 
Recommendation 10 – To be added to comment on relationship with 
MPH/Circle Housing. This will be finalised further to consideration of the 
response from MPH/Circle to the task group’s recommendations which will be 
tabled at the SC Panel meeting on 26th March).  
 
11. Concluding Remarks  
 
11.1 Our recommendations impact on the Council and its partners. The 

recommendations cover: 
 

• The possibility of an ESCO for Merton; 

• Solar PV roll out to council estates, local businesses and residents; 

• Greater strategic oversight across the Council on climate change and 
joint working on initiatives to mitigate its impact; 

• Procurement; 

• A local Green Deal for Merton; 

• Policy development of the Councils Climate Change Strategy 2014-
2017; and 

• Community engagement and behavioural change 

Page 115



40 

 

 
12. What Happens Next? 
 
12.1 This report will be presented to the Sustainable Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Panel meeting on 26th March 2014 for the Panel’s approval. 
 
12.2 The Panel will then send the report to the Council’s Cabinet meeting on 30 

June 2014 for discussion and to seek agreement to the recommendations 
presented. 

 
12.3 The Cabinet will be asked to provide a formal Executive Response and Action 

Plan to the Panel within two months of the submission of the report to its 
meeting in September 2014. The Cabinet will be asked to respond to each of 
the task group’s recommendations, setting out whether the recommendation 
is accepted and how and when it will be implemented.  If the Cabinet is 
unable to support and implement some of the recommendations, then it is 
expected that clearly stated reasons would be provided for each. 

 
12.4 The lead Cabinet Member (or officer to whom this work is delegated) should 

ensure that other organisations, to which recommendations have been 
directed, are contacted and that their response to those recommendations is 
included in the Executive Response and Action Plan. 

 
12.5 The Panel will seek a further report six months after the Cabinet response 

has been received; giving an update on progress with implementation of the 
recommendations (anticipated March 2015).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



41 

 

 
Appendix 1   
 
Whom we spoke to 
 
External Organisations 
John Harrison – Executive Director, Resources (Peterborough City 
Council) 
Helen Coates – Circle Housing Group 
Leanne Donald Whitney, Merton Priory Homes 
 
Officers 
Tara Butler – Programme Manager – Strategic Policy and Research 
Damian Hemmings – Climate Change Officer 
Jon Buick – Climate Change Projects Officer 
Paul Dale – Interim Assistant Director of Resources 
Chris Lee – Director of Environment and Regeneration  

 
 

Cabinet Members 
Councillor Andrew Judge 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 117



42 

 

Appendix 2 

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) template 

Initial Screening  

This form should be completed in line with the Equality Impact Assessment guidance available on the 
intranet  

The blue text below is included to help those completing the template and should be overwritten. 

 

EqIA completed by: 

(Give name and job title) 
Rebecca Redman, Scrutiny Officer 
 

EqIA to be signed off by:  

(Give name and job title) 

Julia Regan, Head of Democracy Services 

 

Department/ Division Corporate Services, Democracy Services 

 

Team The Scrutiny Team 

 

EqIA completed on:  

Date of Challenge Review  
(if you have one): 

N/A 

Date review of this EqIA is 
due  
(no later than 3 years from 
date of completion): 

TBC 

 

Page 118



43 

 

1. What are you assessing? (Tick as appropriate) 
 

� Policy: A policy is an adopted approach by the Council to a specific issue or position, 
usually in the long term.  It provides a set of ideas or principles that together form a 
framework for decision making and implementation.1 A policy may be written or unwritten, 
formal or informal. For example, the Corporate Equality Scheme. 

� Strategy: A strategy sets out the activities and actions that have been identified as most 
likely and cost-effective to achieve the aims and objectives of a council policy e.g. the 
Consultation Strategy.  

� Procedure: A procedure sets out the way in which practices and actions are to be 
undertaken at an individual level in order to achieve the policy in local situations, for 
example using a flow chart approach.  Procedures also outline who will take responsibility 
on a day to day basis for decisions in the implementation of the policy.2 For example, this 
procedure for carrying out an EqIA. 

� Function: A function is an action or activity that the Council is required to carry out for 
example emergency planning arrangements. 

� Service: A service is a facility or provision made by the Council for its residents or staff for 
example the Library service or Translation service.  

 
2. Title of policy, strategy, procedure, function or service 
 

A Scrutiny Review of Climate Change and the Green Deal undertaken by scrutiny 
councillors on the Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel.  

 

3. For functions or services only: Does a third party or contractor provide the 
function or service? If so, who? 

 

Yes. The Council has arrangements with a number of contractors that deliver energy 
efficiency initiatives at present.  

 
4. Who is the policy, strategy, procedure, function or service intended to benefit? 
 

All Merton residents (to alleviate fuel poverty), local businesses, landowners, community 
organisations and the Council (including its estates but also the recommendations, if 
agreed and realised, would offer the potential for income generation for the Council). 

 
5. Who else might be affected? 

 
 
6. What is known about the demographic make up of the people you have included 

in your answers to questions 4 and 5? 
 

The refresh of the Council’s Climate Change Strategy (2014-17) will have utilised existing 

                                                           
1
 See the Council’s Policy Handbook http://intranet/policy_handbook_final_agreed_nov_07-2.doc  

2
 As above  

Partner organisations.  

Page 119



44 

 

demographic data held by the Council to prioritise a number of energy efficiency 
improvements and initiatives which will benefit a range of stakeholders.  

 

The task group have recommended that feasibility studies be undertaken regarding the 
roll out of Solar PV on council estates, to local businesses and to residents, furthermore, 
establishing an ESCO would have an impact on those listed in questions 4 and 5. The 
task group would ask that Cabinet review demographic data and establish risk and impact 
as part of these feasibility studies. 

 
7. Have you already consulted on this policy, strategy, procedure, function or 

service? If so, how? 
 

The task group considered the range and number of national, regional and local 
strategies and plans that are required to be met and delivered against in relation to 
mitigating the negative impact of climate change.  

During this review, the task group contributed to the Council’s refresh of the Climate 
Change Strategy for 2014-17.  The Council have engaged other council departments and 
partner organisations in consultation during the development of this document and also 
identified the relevant stakeholders that will need to be consulted for the delivery of 
initiatives and priorities proposed.  

The Task Group engaged stakeholders in the delivery of the Councils Climate Change 
Strategy, and also on the roll out of the Governments Green Deal initiative, to gain an 
understanding of the work underway and of the improvements that could be made, in 
particular, how the Council might better support those agencies and where opportunities 
for delivering new and innovative solutions to tackling climate change could be explored.  

The Task Group have also made a number of recommendations regarding solar PV and 
an ESCO for Merton that will impact on council policy, strategy and service delivery. The 
task group has requested that a more detailed exploration of the risk and impact of such 
technologies and models be undertaken by Cabinet and this will include consultation with 
key stakeholders.  

 
8. How will you measure the success of your policy, strategy, procedure, function or 

service?  
 

The Task Group have made a number of recommendations above which, subject to 
Cabinet approval, will be outlined in an action plan that will be performance monitored at 
appropriate intervals by the Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Panel. The Council’s 
Environment and Regeneration Department will also undertake their own performance 
monitoring of development and delivery of the above strategies and their associated 
services, through corporate performance monitoring. 

 
9. How often will the policy, strategy, procedure, function or service be reviewed? 
 

The agreed recommendations will be monitored on a six monthly basis by the Sustainable 
Communities Scrutiny Panel and by the departments on a monthly/quarterly basis, as 
identified on the corporate performance dashboard. 

 
10. When will the policy, strategy, procedure, function or service next be reviewed? 

Page 120



45 

 

 

The Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Panel will consider the action plan and Executive 
Response to the recommendations that have been made two months after Cabinet 
consideration of the Final Report (anticipated June 2014). 

 

11. Please complete the following table and give reasons for where: 

(a) The policy function or service could have a positive impact on any of the 
equality  

(b) groups.  The policy function or service could have a potential negative 
impact on any of  

(c) the equality groups.  

 

Think about where there is evidence that different groups have different needs, 
experiences, concerns or priorities in relation to this policy, strategy, procedure, 
function or service.  
 

 

Positive 
impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Equality group  

Yes No Yes No 

Reason 

Gender (inc. 
Transgender) 

   � 

Race/ Ethnicity/ 
Nationality 
 

   � 

Disability 
 

   � 

Age 
 

   � 

Sexual 
orientation 

   � 

Religion/ belief 
 

   � 

Socio-economic 
status 

�    

 

 
12. Did you have sufficient data to help you answer the above questions? 
  

� Yes 

� No 

 
If there is a potential negative impact on one or more groups, or there was insufficient data to help you answer the 
above questions, you should complete a full EqIA 

  
13. Is a full Impact Assessment required? 

 

Page 121



46 

 

� Yes 

 No 

 

EqIA signed off by: Julia Regan, Head of Democracy Services. 

 

Signature:  

 

Date:  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



47 

 

Appendix 3 – Preliminary Business Case: Merton ESCO Proposals 
 

Proposal Target market Service provision Technology  

/ capacity 

Indicative 

costs
3
 

Maintenance 

costs p.a.
4
 

Financial 

returns 

LBM buildings estate - 

operational 

LBM retains Feed in Tariff.  School sites supplied at 

zero cost for a two year period with charging 

implemented thereafter). This will be in house by the 

council 

1000 kWp £1.5m £14k per annum 

 

£75k (@5%) 

LBM buildings estate non- 

operational 

LBM retains Feed in Tariff. Electricity supplied to 

occupants at ~3% below market rate. Potential link-

in with REFIT for SME energy efficiency retrofit. This 

will be in house by the council 

>1000 kWp >£1.5m >£14k per 

annum 

>£75k (@5%) 

Social Housing or community 

assets 

TBC TBC TBC TBC 

Solar PV 

Expansion 

 

Private sector – domestic or 

commercial 

LBM retains Feed in Tariff. Electricity supplied to 

occupants at ~3% below market rate. Potential link 

with local ‘Green Deal’ energy efficiency retrofit. 

TBC TBC TBC TBC 

Sub-total £3.0m £28k £140k 

Morden Town Centre: domestic, 

commercial and community 

buildings 

District heat 

network 

Colliers Wood / South 

Wimbledon: domestic, 

commercial and community 

buildings 

Heat and electricity generated and supplied to LBM 

sites at zero charge. Private sector charged at X% 

below market rate. Option for variable tariffs:  

(i) fuel poor households 

(ii) Potential link-in with energy efficiency retrofit 

offers 

Gas CHP: 

Large - 2MWe 

 

CHP gas turbine: 

£1.3m 

 

 

 

£96k 

 

 

 

TBC 

                                                           
3 
CHP installation costs: 2MWe - £657 per kWe; 50Me - £805 per kWe; 90MWe - £759 per kWe 

4
 Operation and maintenance costs: Solar PV: approx. £14 per kW per annum   CHP: 2MWe - £48 per kWe; 50Me - £805 per kWe; 90MWe - £759 per kWe (DECC) 

P
age 123



48 

 

Small - 50MWe 

Med - 90MWe 

£40.25m 

£68.3m 

 

£1.6m 

£2.8m 

Heat network infrastructure Energy distribution infrastructure with income via 

‘use of network’ charges 

Pipes, branches, 

connections 

5-8k per 

dwelling 

TBC TBC 

Sub-total TBC £96k–£2.8m TBC 

Commercial premises – SMEs Energy performance contracting – REFIT for SMEs TBC TBC TBC Energy 

efficiency 

retrofit Domestic properties Local ‘Green Deal’ model  

Assorted energy 

efficiency measures 

 

£27.0m N/A £46.4m 

Sub-total £27.0m TBC £46.4m 

 
 
(N.B Future Merton estimates subject to technical validation) 

1 
CHP installation costs: 2MWe - £657 per kWe; 50Me - £805 per kWe; 90MWe - £759 per kWe 

1
 Operation and maintenance costs: Solar PV: approx. £14 per kW per annum   CHP: 2MWe - £48 per kWe; 50Me - £805 per kWe; 90MWe - £759 per kWe (DECC) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 124



49 

 

Appendix 4 – Merton ESCO Company Diagram 
 
(N.B. Illustrative approach, subject to technical and financial analysis). 

 
 
 

P
age 125



Page 126

This page is intentionally left blank



www.merton.gov.uk 

Committee: Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 

Date:  26
th

 March 2014 

Agenda item:      10 

Subject:      Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2014/15 – Topic 
Suggestions 

Lead officer:     Julia Regan, Head of Democracy Services 

Lead member:  Councillor Russell Makin, Chair of the Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

Contact officer: Rebecca Redman, Scrutiny Officer (rebecca.redman@merton.gov.uk) 
020 8545 4035 

Recommendations:  

A. That Members of the Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel give 
consideration to the issues and items they may wish to scrutinise as part of their 
2014/15 work programme.  

1.  PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 At the beginning of each municipal year, each Overview and Scrutiny body 
determines the issues it wishes to build into its work programme for the 
forthcoming year. The Overview and Scrutiny bodies have specific roles 
relating to budget and business plan scrutiny and performance monitoring, 
and these should automatically be built into the work programme.  

1.2 In addition to this, Overview and Scrutiny bodies may choose to build a work 
programme which involves scrutinising a range of issues through a 
combination of pre-decision scrutiny items, policy development reviews 
carried out by task groups, performance monitoring, ongoing monitoring 
items and follow up to previous scrutiny work. Any call-in work will be 
programmed into the provisional call-in dates identified in the corporate 
calendar as required. 

1.3 Given that each Overview and Scrutiny body has six scheduled meetings 
over the course of 2014/15 (representing a maximum of 18 hours of scrutiny 
per year), the key challenge for scrutiny Members is how they can reconcile 
the competing demands of the range of issues they could choose to (or are 
required to) scrutinise against the time available. 

1.4 The remit of the Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel is 
as follows:  

Agenda Item 10

Page 127



www.merton.gov.uk 

• housing, including housing need, affordable housing and private 
sector housing 

• environmental sustainability, including energy, waste management, 
parks & open spaces and the built environment 

• culture, including tourism, museums, arts, sports & leisure 

• enterprise and skills, including regeneration, employment, adult 
education & libraries 

• transport 

2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

2.1 N/A 

3. CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

3.1 To assist Members to identify and prioritise a work programme for 2014/15, 
the Scrutiny Team will undertake a consultation programme with Panel 
Members, Co-optees, members of the public, LB Merton Officers, Local Area 
Agreement partners (Merton LSP) and Voluntary and Community Sector 
organisations to determine other issues/items for Members consideration for 
inclusion in the Panels 2014/15 work programme.  

4. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 There are none specific to this report. Scrutiny work involves consideration 
of the financial, resource and property issues relating to the topic being 
scrutinised. Furthermore, scrutiny work will also need to assess the 
implications of any recommendations made to Cabinet, including specific 
financial, resource and property implications. 

5. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Scrutiny work involves consideration of the legal and statutory issues 
relating to the topic being scrutinised. Furthermore, scrutiny work will also 
need to assess the implications of any recommendations made to Cabinet, 
including specific legal and statutory implications. 

6. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 It is a fundamental aim of the scrutiny process to ensure that there is full and 
equal access to the democratic process through public involvement and 
engagement. The reviews will involve work to consult local residents, 
community and voluntary sector groups, businesses, hard to reach groups, 
etc and the views gathered will be fed into the review. 

6.2 Scrutiny work involves consideration of the human rights, equalities and 
community cohesion issues relating to the topic being scrutinised. 
Furthermore, scrutiny work will also need to assess the implications of any 
recommendations made to Cabinet, including specific human rights, 
equalities and community cohesion implications. 

Page 128



www.merton.gov.uk 

7. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS  

7.1 Scrutiny work involves consideration of the crime and disorder issues 
relating to the topic being scrutinised. 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS  

8.1 There are none specific to this report. Scrutiny work involves consideration 
of the risk management and health and safety issues relating to the topic 
being scrutinised. Furthermore, scrutiny work will also need to assess the 
implications of any recommendations made to Cabinet, including specific 
risk management and health and safety implications. 

9. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

9.1 There are no appendices to this report. 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

10.1 No background papers were used in the production of this report. 

Page 129



Page 130

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 26th February 2014
	6 Mini Holland Bid - Progress Report
	Mini Holland Bid - Progress Report APPENDIX 1
	Mini Holland Bid - Progress Report Appendix 2
	Mini Holland Bid - Progress Report Appendix 3

	7 Adult Skills and Employability Task Group Review - Action Plan and Progress Report
	Adult Skills and Employability Task Group Review - Appendix 1
	Adult Skills and Employability Task Group Review - Appendix 2

	8 Draft Final Report - Climate Change and Green Deal Task Group
	Draft Final Report - Climate Change and Green Deal Task Group - Appendix 1

	10 Topic Suggestions for 2014/15

